

Tissue pathways for gastrointestinal and pancreatobiliary pathology

January 2016

Authors: Professor Roger Feakins, Barts Health NHS Trust Dr Derek Allen, Belfast Health and Social Care Trust Professor Fiona Campbell, Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust Dr Lisa Mears, Barts Health NHS Trust Dr Nigel Scott, Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust

| Unique document number | G085 | |
|------------------------|---|--|
| Document name | Tissue pathways for gastrointestinal and pancreatobiliary pathology | |
| Version number | 2 | |
| Produced by | RF (lead author): Consultant Gastrointestinal (GI) Pathologist, Barts Health NHS Trust; Professor of GI Pathology, QMUL, University of London; RCPath GI Subspecialty Advisor. DA: Consultant in General Surgical and GI Pathology, Belfast Health and Social Care Trust. FC: Consultant GI Pathologist, Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust; Honorary Professor of GI and Pancreas Pathology, University of Liverpool. LM: Consultant GI Pathologist, Barts Health NHS Trust. NS: Consultant Histopathologist with special interest in GI Pathology, Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust; Honorary Clinical Lecturer, University of Leeds. All authors are experienced GI and/or pancreatobiliary histopathologists. | |
| Date active | January 2016 | |
| Date for full review | January 2020 | |
| Comments | This document replaces the 1st edition of <i>Tissue pathways for</i> <i>gastrointestinal and pancreatobiliary pathology</i> , 2009. In accordance with the College's pre-publications policy, this document was on the College website for consultation from 2–30 September 2015. Twenty- five items of feedback were received. Please email <u>publishing@rcpath.org</u> to see the responses and comments. Dr Lorna Williamson Director of Publishing and Engagement | |

The Royal College of Pathologists Fourth Floor, 21 Prescot Street, London, E1 8BB Tel: 020 7451 6700 Web: www.rcpath.org

Registered charity in England and Wales, no. 261035

© 2016, The Royal College of Pathologists

This work is copyright. You may download, display, print and reproduce this document for your personal, non-commercial use. Apart from any use as permitted under the Copyright Act 1968 or as set out above, all other rights are reserved. Requests and inquiries concerning reproduction and rights should be addressed to The Royal College of Pathologists at the above address. First published: 2016



and the second

CEff 180116

V5 Final INVESTOR IN PEOPLE

Contents

| Forev | oreword4 | | | | |
|-------|---|----|--|--|--|
| 1 | Introduction | 5 | | | |
| 1.1 | Staffing and workload | 5 | | | |
| 1.2 | Laboratory facilities | 5 | | | |
| 1.3 | Specimen submission | 6 | | | |
| 1.4 | Block selection and record | 6 | | | |
| 1.5 | Dysplasia/malignancy | 6 | | | |
| 2 | Tissue pathways: gastrointestinal and pancreatic biopsies | 7 | | | |
| 2.1 | Biopsies: general considerations | 7 | | | |
| 2.2 | Oesophageal biopsy: additional comments | 10 | | | |
| 2.3 | Gastric biopsy: additional comments | 11 | | | |
| 2.4 | Duodenal/jejunal biopsy: additional comments | 13 | | | |
| 2.5 | Ileal biopsy: additional comments | 14 | | | |
| 2.6 | Colorectal biopsy: additional comments | 14 | | | |
| 2.7 | Anal biopsy: additional comments | 17 | | | |
| 2.8 | Ileoanal pouch biopsy: additional comments | 17 | | | |
| 2.9 | Ampulla of Vater biopsy: additional comments | 17 | | | |
| 2.10 | Pancreatic biopsy: additional comments | 17 | | | |
| 2.11 | Endoscopic ultrasound (EUS)-guided fine needle biopsies: additional comments | 19 | | | |
| 3 | Tissue pathways: small gastrointestinal resection specimens | 19 | | | |
| 3.1 | Appendicectomy | 19 | | | |
| 3.2 | Polyps (gastric and intestinal) | | | | |
| 3.3 | Anal polyps | 22 | | | |
| 3.4 | Other anal lesions (e.g. fissure, fistula, sinus) | | | | |
| 3.5 | lleostomy/colostomy | | | | |
| 3.6 | Omentum | 24 | | | |
| 4 | Tissue pathways: large gastrointestinal resection specimens | 25 | | | |
| 4.1 | Oesophagectomy/gastrectomy for non-neoplastic disease | 26 | | | |
| 4.2 | Intestinal resections: general considerations | 27 | | | |
| 4.3 | Ischaemic bowel: additional comments | 30 | | | |
| 4.4 | Vascular malformation and angiodysplasia: additional comments | 31 | | | |
| 4.5 | Inflammatory bowel disease (large intestinal resections): additional comments | 31 | | | |
| 4.6 | Small bowel resection for stricture/Crohn's disease: additional comments | 33 | | | |
| 4.7 | Intussusception: additional comments | 33 | | | |
| 5 | Tissue pathways: pancreatobiliary resection specimens | 34 | | | |
| 5.1 | Bile duct resection | 34 | | | |
| 5.2 | Cholecystectomy for non-neoplastic disease | 35 | | | |
| 5.3 | Pancreatic resection for non-neoplastic disease | 36 | | | |
| 5.4 | Pancreatic resection: cysts | 37 | | | |
| 6 | Criteria for audit of tissue pathway | 38 | | | |

| Refe | rences | | 39 | |
|-------|---|--|----|--|
| Арре | endix A | Summary table – Explanation of levels of evidence | 50 | |
| Арре | endix B | AGREE compliance monitoring sheet | 51 | |
| Table | es of reco | mmendations | | |
| 1 | Introduction | | | |
| | Dysplasia | recommendations | 7 | |
| 2 | Tissue p | athways: gastrointestinal and pancreatic biopsies | | |
| | | Mucosal biopsy: recommendations | | |
| | Oesopha | geal biopsy: recommendations | | |
| | • | opsy: recommendations | | |
| | Colorecta | l biopsy: recommendations | | |
| 3 | Tissue p | athways: small gastrointestinal resection specimens | | |
| | Appendix | : recommendations | | |
| | Gastric a | nd intestinal polyps: recommendations | 23 | |
| 4 | Tissue pathways: large gastrointestinal resection specimens | | | |
| | Large GI | resection specimens: recommendations | | |
| | Colorecta | I resections for inflammatory bowel disease: recommendations | | |
| 5 | Tissue p | athways: pancreatobiliary resection specimens | | |
| | Gall blade | der: recommendations | | |
| | Pancreati | c cysts: recommendations | | |

Foreword

The tissue pathways published by The Royal College of Pathologists (RCPath) are guidelines that enable pathologists to deal with routine surgical specimens in a consistent manner and to a high standard. This ensures that accurate diagnostic and prognostic information is available to clinicians for optimal patient care and ensures appropriate management for specific clinical circumstances. It may rarely be necessary or even desirable to depart from the guidelines in the interests of specific patients and special circumstances. The clinical risk of departing from the guidelines should be carefully considered by the reporting pathologist; just as adherence to the guidelines may not constitute defence against a claim of negligence, so a decision to deviate from them should not necessarily be deemed negligent.

The guidelines themselves constitute the tools for implementation and dissemination of good practice.

The stakeholders consulted for this document were: UK gastrointestinal pathologists (through the Pathology Section committee of the British Society of Gastroenterology) and UK histopathologists (through the consultation process of the RCPath).

This document is the second edition of a College guideline.¹ Statements and advice are supported by published evidence, where possible. Information has been obtained from various sources, including peer reviewed publications, Best Practice documents, expert opinion, and standard textbooks. In order to identify relevant peer reviewed studies, a PubMed search was done using key words. Recommendations and evidence from established clinical and pathological guidelines are also taken into account. The latter include documents produced by The Royal College of Pathologists,²⁻⁶ World Health Organization,⁷ European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation,⁸ British Society of Gastroenterology (BSG),^{9,10} UK Bowel Cancer Screening Programme¹¹ and other groups.^{12,13} Feedback from the consultation process of the College also contributed to the content.

No major organisational changes or cost implications have been identified that would hinder the implementation of the tissue pathway.

To grade available evidence, a modification of the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN) guidance for the development of clinical practice Guidelines was used (see Appendix A). The grade does not necessarily equate to the clinical importance of the advice or recommendation

A formal revision cycle for all tissue pathways takes place on a four-yearly basis. However, each year, the College will ask the authors of the tissue pathways, in conjunction with the relevant subspecialty adviser to the College, to consider whether or not the document needs to be updated or revised. A full consultation process will be undertaken if major revisions are required. If minor revisions are required, an abridged consultation process will be undertaken, whereby a short note of the proposed changes will be placed on the College website for two weeks for members' attention. If members do not object to the changes, the short notice of change will be incorporated into the pathways and the full revised version (incorporating the changes) will replace the existing version on the publications page of the College.

The pathway has been reviewed by the Working Group on Cancer Services and was on the College website for consultation with the membership from 2–30 September 2015. All comments received from the Working Group and membership were addressed by the authors to the satisfaction of the Chair of the Working Group and Director of Publishing and Engagement.

This pathway was developed without external funding to the writing group. The College requires the authors of tissue pathways to provide a list of potential conflicts of interest; these are monitored by the Director of Clinical Effectiveness and are available on request. The authors of this document have declared that there are no conflicts of interest.

1 Introduction

1.1 Staffing and workload

The target users of this document are consultant cellular pathologists who report gastrointestinal (GI) and/or pancreatobiliary pathology.

Gastrointestinal histopathology is a major element of most histopathology departments' workload. It may be part of a general rota or may be mostly or exclusively reported by specialists. In either circumstance, there must be enough pathologists to provide cover and to conform to the College guidance on staffing and workload levels and on key performance indicators.^{14,15}

Typically, mucosal biopsies constitute the majority of the gastrointestinal pathology service. The College recommends that 80% and 90% of all laboratory specimen types (biopsies and resections) are reported within 7 days and 10 days, respectively, of the date of sampling.¹⁵

Pathologists reporting GI pathology should participate in the UK national (British Society of Gastroenterology) GI pathology external quality assurance (EQA) scheme or in a local general pathology EQA scheme that includes GI pathology cases. Those whose work consists predominantly of GI pathology should participate in the national GI EQA scheme. As a minimum, the lead and deputy lead in each area of the service should participate in an EQA that includes relevant GI pathology cases.¹⁵ If a frozen section or out-of-hours service in GI pathology is offered, this should be provided by those who report GI pathology regularly *[Level of evidence – GPP]*.¹⁵ Pathologists reporting bowel cancer screening programme (BCSP) cases should also participate in the BCSP pathology EQA. All histopathologists should participate in the RCPath continuing professional development scheme¹⁵ and in audit.

Where necessary, pathologists should have access to a regional or national GI/pancreatobiliary specialist opinion. The need will be influenced by the local level of expertise. Guidance with more detail is available from the College.¹⁶

1.2 Laboratory facilities

The laboratory should be equipped to allow the recommended technical procedures to be performed safely. It should be enrolled with Clinical Pathology Accreditation/United Kingdom Accreditation Service (CPA/UKAS Ltd), participate in the UK National External Quality Assurance Scheme for Cellular Pathology Technique, and participate in the UK National External Quality Assurance Scheme for immunocytochemistry.¹⁵

Specific considerations for GI pathology include the following:

- a laboratory whose mucosal biopsy workload is large should be staffed, equipped and managed in a way that maintains acceptable turnaround times.¹⁵
- coloured inks for identifying resection margins should be available.
- provision should be made for macroscopic and microscopic photography.
- there should be facilities to process large (wholemount) blocks.

Reports should be held on an electronic database that has facilities to search and retrieve specific data items and that is indexed according to Systematised Nomenclature of Medicine (SNOMED) T, M and P codes (or equivalent codes according to Systematised Nomenclature of Medicine Clinical Terms [SNOMED CT]). It is acknowledged that existing laboratory information systems may not meet this standard; nevertheless, the ability to store data in this way should be considered when laboratory systems are replaced or upgraded.

Workload data should be recorded in a format that facilitates the determination of the resources involved and which, if applicable, is suitable for mapping to Healthcare Resource Groups (HRGs).

1.3 Specimen submission

Details of the patient, clinician, date of procedure and type of specimen should be provided.^{10,17-19} The indication for the procedure should be stated. Relevant surgical or endoscopic findings should be supplied, the latter as a description or in the form of the endoscopy report.²⁰ Details of previous histology should be available, particularly if there is a history of dysplasia or carcinoma. Details of previous treatment are also important. In some circumstances, interpretation of histology without adequate clinical details is not possible *[Level of evidence – D].*

It is essential that the sites of origin of all biopsies and resections are known to the histopathologist. Each specimen container should be labelled with patient details and with the anatomical site of origin.

Formalin should be of adequate volume to cover the specimen entirely and to ensure proper fixation. The specimen should not be disrupted prior to receipt in the laboratory, unless this has been agreed in advance.²¹

1.4 Block selection and record

When sampling a specimen, the site or lesion from which each block is taken should be documented. Each cassette should have a unique identifying number or letter. A record of the number of pieces of tissue in each cassette is useful. Measurements should be in millimetres. The description should be sufficiently clear that another pathologist can understand the purpose and site of origin of each block. Clarity is enhanced by a block key and, where appropriate, by labelled photographs or line drawings.^{21,22}

1.5 Dysplasia/malignancy

Details of previous diagnoses of dysplasia or malignancy are useful.^{18,23}

Columnar (glandular) dysplasia within the gastrointestinal tract is classified as low grade or high grade.^{11,13} Oesophageal squamous dysplasia is classified as low grade or high grade.⁷ Anal intraepithelial neoplasia (squamous) is classified as AIN 1, 2 or 3. Dysplasia in the gallbladder, biliary tree and pancreas is graded according to the three-tier systems currently recommended by WHO (BillN 1, 2 or, 3 for the gallbladder and biliary tree; PanIN 1 (A&B), 2, or 3 for the pancreas; and low, intermediate and high grade for intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms and mucinous cystic neoplasms).⁷

Inflammation and ulceration may cause regenerative epithelial atypia, which can be difficult to distinguish from dysplasia. Difficulties are sometimes resolved by examining deeper levels. Immunohistochemistry for p53 and Ki67 is not currently recommended routinely but may be useful in some circumstances.^{8,10,20}

Biopsies that show, or might show, dysplasia (with the exception of adenomas with low grade dysplasia) should ideally be reported by at least two consultants, especially if the grade of dysplasia is in any doubt.^{8,24} According to current guidelines, double reporting (preferably including a colleague whose main area of reporting is GI pathology) is advised for: dysplasia in chronic inflammatory bowel disease, particularly if non-polypoid and low grade,^{8,25} dysplasia in Barrett's oesophagus,⁹ and cancers from bowel cancer screening programme (BCSP) patients.²⁶ However, there is conflicting evidence for the clinical benefits of double reporting [Level of evidence – D].^{8,24}

Interobserver variability for grading dysplasia ranges from poor to good/excellent in published studies, and may not necessarily improve after the adoption of agreed diagnostic criteria.^{24,27-30}

The term "indefinite for dysplasia" may be useful if a decision cannot be made as to the presence or absence of dysplasia.^{13,31,32} Reasons for the latter include significant atypia combined with considerable inflammation, or absence of sufficient surface epithelium to allow confident exclusion or diagnosis of dysplasia. Alternatively, the inability to decide can be documented. It may be appropriate to recommend further biopsies in this setting.

Malignancy should be approached and reported according to the guidance in the relevant College dataset.^{2-6,33}Neoplasms should be typed and graded according to published guidelines or texts.⁷ Staging of resected tumours should generally follow the UICC (International Union Against Cancer) guidelines, though bearing in mind that some College datasets recommend classifications other than the most recent edition of the UICC TNM system.³⁴

DYSPLASIA: RECOMMENDATIONS

Columnar (glandular) dysplasia within the gastrointestinal tract is classified as low grade or high grade.

Squamous dysplasia of the oesophagus is classified as low or high grade. Anal intraepithelial neoplasia (squamous) is classified as AIN 1, 2 or 3.

Biopsies that show, or might show, dysplasia (with the exception of adenomas with low grade dysplasia) should be reported by at least two consultants. [Level of evidence – D].

The term "indefinite for dysplasia" may be useful if a decision cannot be made as to the presence or absence of dysplasia.

2 Tissue pathways: gastrointestinal and pancreatic biopsies

2.1 Biopsies: general considerations

2.1.1 Mucosal biopsy: preparation, dissection and blocks

Fixation

The specimen should be allowed to fix sufficiently before processing. Adequacy of fixation can be estimated by visual inspection if necessary. A biopsy should probably be fixed in formalin for at least six hours and for no more than three days, although published evidence for an optimal fixation time is sparse [Level of evidence – D].^{35,36}

Orientation (mucosal versus submucosal)

Biopsies may be received free-floating in formalin, in which case they will not have been orientated by the endoscopist. Alternatively, biopsies may be received attached to filter paper, cellulose acetate paper or similar, in which case the endoscopist may have attempted to orientate them in terms of mucosal and submucosal aspects. Cellulose acetate strips are suitable for cutting with a microtome, but filter paper is unsuitable.

If mucosal and submucosal aspects of the biopsies can be identified, the biopsies should be orientated as accurately as possible during embedding.²³

Orientation of biopsies from multiple sites (e.g. distal versus proximal large bowel)

Biopsies from different parts of the GI tract should be dealt with in such a way that their site of origin is unequivocal. Possible approaches include multiple specimen pots, cellulose acetate strips, and multi-well cassettes.^{8,23,37}

- 1. Biopsies from multiple sites may be received in the same pot. The site of origin of each cannot be determined, unless microscopy distinguishes them (e.g. ileal and colonic mucosa).
- 2. Biopsies may be in multiple pots, each pot corresponding to a specific site. Each pot should have been labelled with a site of origin. Biopsies from each site can then be placed in a separate cassette, identified by a unique number or letter.
- 3. Biopsies from multiple sites may have been arranged sequentially on a cellulose acetate strip (or similar). The endoscopist should mark the strip to allow identification of the proximal or distal end. The meaning of this mark should be agreed in advance. This approach may fail as a result of detachment of biopsies from the strip. It also limits the number of biopsies that can be taken.
- 4. Biopsies may be received in multi-well cassettes. The well corresponding to each biopsy site must be identified in advance. Several fragments can be placed in each well. Careful matching of the well contents, embedded tissue and final slide is required to avoid confusion. If barcodes are used, it may be difficult to add them to multi-well cassettes.
- 5. Pre-cassetted biopsies may be received.

Embedding

Embed all fragments or cores in their entirety. Larger (e.g. full thickness) biopsies require orientation and may need slicing before embedding. A method to avoid loss of small biopsy fragments should be used, e.g. insertion of foam pads into the cassette or wrapping of biopsies in a suitable material. It may be better to avoid placing a large number of fragments in the same cassette, as it may be difficult to keep them orientated and at the same level. Embedding fragments in a line facilitates histological assessment.²²

2.1.2 Mucosal biopsy: macroscopic description

Record the number of fragments.²³ The term "multiple" should ideally be restricted to cases where there are too many to count or where a precise count is difficult. Record the size of the largest fragment in millimetres. Record attachment of biopsies to filter paper, cellulose acetate or similar. Describe any other material, foreign bodies, etc.

Discrepancies between the macroscopic description and the number of biopsies in the slide raise the possibility of uncut tissue in the block. Discrepancies between the number of biopsies recorded by the endoscopist and the number received in the laboratory are also worth noting. However, either type of discrepancy could also reflect disruption of biopsies before or during processing.

2.1.3 Mucosal biopsy: sections and stains

Minimum stains

Haematoxylin and eosin (H&E). Many laboratories do step sections routinely at two or three levels (e.g. 75 microns apart). This approach is recommended [Level of evidence – GPP].^{22,23}

Other stains

- Additional levels may be useful, e.g. for orientation, detection of lesions, distinction of reactive epithelial changes from dysplasia, and confirmation of invasive carcinoma. There is consistent evidence that deeper levels may reveal a lesion, e.g. an adenoma, which was not apparent on initial sections [Level of evidence C].³⁸⁻⁴¹
- If granulomas are present, PAS/DPAS and Ziehl Neelsen (ZN) stains may be useful.
- In HIV cases with inflamed mucosa, stains for fungi, mycobacteria and protozoa, e.g. PAS/DPAS, ZN^{12,23} and Giemsa, should be considered [Level of evidence – GPP]. There is evidence that these stains provide little additional information, even when inflammation is present.⁴²
- A Congo Red stain examined under polarised light helps to confirm or exclude amyloid if this is suspected by the clinician or the pathologist. If amyloid is confirmed, further special stains and immunohistochemistry may be appropriate.⁴³

Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry for cytomegalovirus (CMV) and/or herpes simplex virus (HSV) is worth considering if these are suspected clinically, or if there is ulceration, or if inclusions are seen or suspected. It may be of greater value in immunosuppressed patients (e.g. HIV or severe chronic ulcerative colitis) [Level of evidence – GPP] and in graft versus host disease (GVHD) where CMV is a potential histological mimic.^{44,45} The diagnostic yield is higher than for H&E sections, but there is also evidence casting doubt on the value of staining [Level of evidence – GPP].⁴²

2.1.4 Mucosal biopsy: report and microscopic description

General

- The adequacy and appropriateness of the sample should be noted, and recorded if relevant.
- A separate description should be composed for each separately submitted set of biopsies, unless they all show the same or similar features.
- Many changes can only be interpreted in the light of clinical and endoscopic findings [Level of evidence – D].^{8,19,46} If adequate details are not provided, this should be noted. Clinicopathological meetings and good communication help refine interpretation.^{10,47,48}

MUCOSAL BIOPSY: RECOMMENDATIONS

Adequate clinical details should be provided in all cases. Clinicopathological meetings may be useful [Level of evidence - D].

Biopsies from different parts of the GI tract should be submitted in such a way that their site of origin is unequivocal, e.g. multiple pots or multi-well cassettes [Level of evidence – D/GPP].

Step sections routinely at two or three levels (e.g. 75 microns apart) are recommended [Level of evidence – GPP].

Additional levels are often useful [Level of evidence - C].

2.2 Oesophageal biopsy: additional comments

2.2.1 Clinical

Biopsies for diagnosis or follow-up of Barrett's (columnar lined) oesophagus should be accompanied by full details of endoscopic findings, the exact site of origin of each set of biopsies, and any history of dysplasia.

2.2.2 Sections and stains

Additional stains

Special stains for mucins may be useful, i.e. PAS +/- Diastase (PAS +/- D) and Alcian Blue (AB), often in the form of an ABPAS or ABPASD stain.⁴⁹ Alcian Blue positivity helps to confirm goblet cell (intestinal) metaplasia (although not all Alcian Blue positive cells are goblet cells).⁵⁰ PAS/DPAS staining also helps to identify fungi.

Some guidelines recommend PAS and AB if columnar mucosa is present in the sample, while others favour routine special stains.^{23,49} However, opinions and evidence conflict regarding the value of routine additional stains.^{32,49,51,52} Currently, the approach varies within the UK.^{49,51}

Further levels may be useful, e.g. to help detect goblet cells [[Level of evidence - D].^{32,41}

Immunohistochemistry

Studies of cytokeratin typing to distinguish intestinal metaplasia in Barrett's oesophagus from metaplasia in the gastric cardia have yielded inconclusive results, and use of immunohistochemistry for this purpose is not currently recommended.^{53,54}

2.2.3 Report and microscopic description

Indications for biopsy: examples

- Assessment of oesophagitis and its aetiology (e.g. reflux, infective, eosinophilic, iron pill oesophagitis).
- Diagnosis and assessment of Barrett's (columnar lined) oesophagus.
- Exclusion of dysplasia or malignancy.

Report

If squamous and columnar mucosae are present, it is appropriate to report the appearances of both. It is useful to record the presence and type of metaplastic epithelium, fungi, and dysplasia or malignancy. Other micro-organisms, e.g. Herpes Simplex virus and mycobacteria, should also be excluded.

- The histology of eosinophilic oesophagitis overlaps with that of reflux oesophagitis. The diagnosis is clinicopathological and might be considered if numerous eosinophils are seen in the appropriate clinical setting (e.g. 'feline oesophagus'), especially after a trial of PPI therapy. A threshold of >15 eosinophils in at least one high power field [hpf] has been suggested but this feature is not diagnostic.^{55,56} Other features which lend support include superficial eosinophilic layering/aggregates and eosinophilic microabscesses.⁵⁷ Eosinophil infiltration is often patchy. Two to four biopsies should be obtained from each of at least two different locations in the oesophagus, e.g. proximal and distal.⁵⁸
- Diagnosis of intestinal metaplasia requires the presence of goblet cells. There is no need to subclassify intestinal metaplasia as complete or incomplete.
- The presence/absence of oesophageal glands and ducts should be recorded.9

Barrett's oesophagus

Barrett's (columnar lined) oesophagus is diagnosed by the endoscopist.

The pathologist may make a confident diagnosis of Barrett's oesophagus when glandular mucosa is present together with native oesophageal structures (squamous ducts and/or oesophageal submucosal glands) in the biopsy, although such native structures are only found in <15% of biopsies.^{9,59} When oesophageal biopsies contain native structures, the pathologist can conclude: "Barrett's oesophagus with gastric metaplasia only" or "Barrett's oesophagus with intestinal metaplasia.⁹ It is important to state whether intestinal metaplasia is present or not, since its presence is associated with a >five-fold increase in cancer risk.⁶⁰

In biopsies where native oesophageal structures are not present, gastric-type mucosa (with or without intestinal metaplasia) may originate from Barrett's oesophagus, but may also originate from a hiatus hernia or the gastric cardia.^{9,59} In these circumstances, the diagnosis of Barrett's oesophagus can only be made with confidence by the endoscopist, and it would be prudent for the pathologist to conclude either: "Oesophageal biopsy – gastric-type mucosa only. Biopsies supportive of the diagnosis of Barrett's oesophagus if taken from the tubular oesophagus" or: "Oesophageal biopsy – glandular mucosa with intestinal metaplasia. Biopsies supportive of the diagnosis of Barrett's oesophagus if taken from the tubular oesophagus".^{9,59}

Suspected dysplasia of all grades should be corroborated by a second pathologist, preferably a pathologist with a specialist GI interest.⁹ The addition of p53 immunostaining to the histopathological assessment may improve the diagnostic reproducibility of a diagnosis of dysplasia in Barrett's oesophagus and may be considered as an adjunct to routine diagnosis.⁹

OESOPHAGEAL BIOPSY: RECOMMENDATIONS

ABPASD staining may be useful. Routine ABPASD staining may be appropriate for some laboratories, but evidence and support for this approach are inconsistent *[Level of evidence – GPP]*.

Diagnosis of intestinal metaplasia requires the presence of goblet cells.

When reporting biopsies for assessment of Barrett's oesophagus, the approach described above (based on British Society of Gastroenterology guidelines) is recommended.

Histological distinction of eosinophilic oesophagitis from reflux oesophagitis can be difficult. Correlation with clinical findings is advisable.

2.3 Gastric biopsy: additional comments

2.3.1 Sections and stains

Additional stains

A histochemical or immunohistochemical stain for Helicobacter pylori, e.g. Giemsa, Cresyl Fast violet (CFV), should be available. The updated Sydney classification system guidelines suggest that, as a minimum, a stain should be done when there is inflammation in the organisms.12,49,61 identifiable Helicobacter-like There absence of is conflicting evidence/opinion regarding the diagnostic value, clinical value and cost effectiveness of performing a stain routinely.^{8,49,51,52} Other guidelines favour immunohistochemistry over histochemical stains where Helicobacter cannot be seen on H&E examination. When antibiotic or PPI treatment has been given, immunohistochemistry appears to be more sensitive in detecting small numbers and enables the recognition of coccoid forms.^{49,61,62}

It is recommended, as a minimum, that a Helicobacter stain is requested if characteristic inflammation is seen, no Helicobacter are apparent, and no clinical test (e.g. CLO test) has been performed.^{12,49,63}

Other stains

Special stains for mucins help to identify intestinal metaplasia in gastric mucosa. PAS+/diastase and Alcian Blue are most often used, i.e. ABPAS or ABDPAS.^{12,49} Routine mucin stains are done in some laboratories but there is some evidence that this approach is not effective.^{49,52}

A Perls stain may be used selectively to confirm iron deposits in areas of erosion or gastritis ("iron pill gastropathy").⁶⁴

2.3.2 Report and microscopic description

Indications for biopsy: examples

- Diagnosis and assessment of gastritis/ulceration.
- Characterisation of polyps.
- Exclusion of dysplasia or malignancy.

Report: general comments

- The number of body/fundus-type and antrum/cardia-type biopsies should be noted. Biopsies from different sites should be described separately, unless they are the same or very similar.
- Assess the features that are recommended by the updated Sydney classification: chronic inflammation, activity, intestinal metaplasia, atrophy, dysplasia, Helicobacter.¹²

Report: most common categories of gastritis

- Helicobacter-associated chronic gastritis.
- Atrophic gastritis, characterised by chronic inflammation, atrophy and intestinal metaplasia. This pattern can be secondary to Helicobacter (antral-predominant) or autoimmune gastritis (typically body-predominant and associated with antibodies to parietal cells and intrinsic factor).
- Reactive (chemical) gastropathy/gastritis, including iron pill gastropathy.
- "Lymphocytic" gastritis (criteria vary, e.g. >25 lymphocytes per 100 epithelial cells; the pattern has several aetiologies and associations, including coeliac disease, H. pylori, microscopic colitis, NSAIDs).^{65,66} Immunohistochemistry is not usually required for analysis of lymphocyte numbers.
- "Granulomatous" gastritis: Crohn's disease, mycobacterial infection, fungi, foreign material, crypt/gland rupture, and sarcoidosis are possible causes. A proposed association with Helicobacter pylori infection has been disputed.⁶⁶⁻⁶⁸

GASTRIC BIOPSY: RECOMMENDATIONS

When reporting biopsies for assessment of gastritis, consideration of the updated Sydney classification is recommended. Chronic inflammation, activity, intestinal metaplasia and atrophy can be graded. The presence or absence of Helicobacter and dysplasia should be recorded.

The most common types of gastritis are Helicobacter-associated gastritis and reactive gastritis.

As a minimum, a Helicobacter stain is recommended if characteristic inflammation is seen, no Helicobacter are apparent, and no clinical test has been performed. *[Level of evidence – GPP].*

An ABPASD stain for mucins may be useful for confirming intestinal metaplasia.

Routine Helicobacter and/or mucin staining are used in some laboratories, but evidence and support for this approach are inconsistent.

2.4 Duodenal/jejunal biopsy: additional comments

2.4.1 Sections and stains

Deeper levels may be very useful if villous architecture is difficult to assess in a poorly orientated or small biopsy. Identification of parasites may be assisted by a Giemsa stain. PAS stain is used routinely in some laboratories to identify gastric metaplasia but is of little value in most cases.

Immunohistochemistry and Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

Immunohistochemistry and PCR-based studies may be appropriate for some biopsies with features of coeliac disease, particularly if there is refractory coeliac disease or a suspicion of T-cell neoplasia.^{69,70} CD117 immunohistochemistrymay help identify Giardia trophozoites but isnot usually necessary.⁷¹ Whipple's disease is an extremely rare cause of enteropathy. A PASD stain helps make the diagnosis, but immunohistochemistry, PCR or electron microscopy are usually necessary for confirmation and are only available in large centres.

2.4.2 Report and microscopic description

Indications for biopsy: examples

- Exclusion of an enteropathy, particularly coeliac disease.⁷⁰
- Assessment of duodenitis or ulceration.
- Exclusion of dysplasia or of primary/secondary malignancy.

- The number of biopsies should be documented. Recent guidelines on coeliac disease have reaffirmed the importance of biopsy pathology even when serology is available. At least four biopsies should be obtained. These should include a biopsy of the duodenal bulb, because the histological abnormalities are occasionally limited to D1.^{63,70,72-75}
- If the biopsies are traumatised or poorly processed to the extent that villous architecture cannot be assessed reliably, this fact should be recorded.
- Note features of coeliac disease, e.g. villous atrophy, crypt hyperplasia, increased intraepithelial lymphocytes (>25 per 100 epithelial cells), distribution of intraepithelial lymphocytes, surface epithelial changes.^{69,70} Immunohistochemistry for CD3 may

facilitate counting of intraepithelial lymphocytes, although some studies have shown no advantage over H&E staining.^{76,77}

 Giardia and other infective agents should be sought actively, especially in immunosuppressed patients (e.g. hypogammaglobulinaemia). Giardia are easily missed if they are sparse.⁷⁸ Absence of plasma cells, as seen in common variable immune deficiency, is also easily missed.

2.5 Ileal biopsy: additional comments

2.5.1 Report and microscopic description

Indications for biopsy: examples

- Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) assessment and classification [Level of evidence C].^{17,79}
- Characterisation of other inflammatory conditions.
- Exclusion of neoplasia (e.g. abnormal CT appearances, abnormal endoscopy).
- Confirmation that the ileum has been reached. Biopsies are taken for this reason, despite the existence of guidelines stating that they are of no value.^{37,63}

Report

Note that native lymphoid tissue may appear polypoid at endoscopy and can be prominent histologically. A diagnosis of ileitis cannot be made easily in the absence of acute inflammation or of other unequivocally abnormal features *[Level of evidence – GPP]*.⁸⁰ Ileoscopy has become more frequent, and ileal biopsies may be taken from abnormal mucosa to exclude Crohn's disease. However, it is worth remembering that there are other causes of ileitis and aphthous ulcers, such as NSAIDs and infection.⁸¹

2.6 Colorectal biopsy: additional comments

2.6.1 Report and microscopic description

Indications for biopsy: examples

- Assessment of altered bowel habit/rectal bleeding.
- Follow up of chronic idiopathic inflammatory bowel disease (IBD).
- Exclusion or follow up of dysplasia/malignancy, including Bowel Cancer Screening Programme (BCSP).¹¹

Report: general comments

For inflammatory conditions, the distribution of changes between biopsies from the same site and between biopsies from separate sites should be recorded and can be very useful diagnostically in certain settings, e.g. IBD *[Level of evidence – A]*.¹⁷ Ileal and colonic biopsies may be present in the same pot and should be described separately if possible, although their distinction can be very difficult if the mucosa is inflamed.

Assessment: inflammation

Decide whether the mucosa is normal or abnormal. If inflamed, try to categorise as infective type, IBD type or another type. Terms such as "non-specific chronic colitis"/"non-specific colitis" should be avoided [Level of evidence – GPP].^{10,82}

Chronic idiopathic inflammatory bowel disease (IBD)

- BSG guidelines are recommended.¹⁰ Other guidelines are also available.^{8,17,45,83}
- The probability of IBD should be stated, especially in initial biopsies.¹⁰ The features that favour IBD over other causes most strongly, in the appropriate clinical setting, are basal plasmacytosis and mucosal architectural changes (including crypt distortion and crypt atrophy) [Level of evidence – A].¹⁰
- If IBD is definite or very likely, the probability of ulcerative colitis (UC) or Crohn's disease should be recorded. The microscopic features that help distinguish UC and Crohn's disease from one another include non-cryptolytic granulomas, architectural changes, and distribution of disease. Granulomas are more specific than any other feature [Level of evidence A].¹⁰
- IBD can be difficult or impossible to classify further. If a term is required, "IBD unclassified" (IBDU) is recommended.^{10,83,84} The term "indeterminate colitis" is not used for biopsy reporting.^{10,17,85}
- There is no widely agreed grading scheme for histological inflammation or activity in IBD but a description of the severity of activity is helpful and may contribute to the assessment of the risk of neoplasia.^{10,25}
- Features of IBD may be greatly modified by time and treatment [Level of evidence C].^{10,86-89} This can make classification of IBD difficult in post-treatment biopsies, while biopsies taken very early in the course of IBD may show few changes [Level of evidence – C].^{10,17,90,91}
- Discussion of IBD cases with clinicians should help reduce the risk of inaccurate classification and misunderstandings.^{10,47,48}
- The acronym "PAID" (pattern, activity, interpretation, dysplasia) is a useful aidememoire for the structure of the conclusion of an IBD biopsy report.¹⁰ The PAID proforma in the BSG guidelines may also be helpful.
- Immunohistochemistry for CMV should be considered, particularly when there is severe refractory disease or severe ulceration or inclusions are seen or suspected [Level of evidence – GPP].⁹²

Comments on other forms of colitis

- Microscopic colitis: classification as "collagenous colitis" or "lymphocytic colitis" is
 preferable to the term "microscopic colitis", but it is recognised that overlap may occur.⁸²
 The hallmark of collagenous colitis is a thickened subepithelial collagen band.
 Lymphocytic colitis is characterised by an intraepithelial lymphocyte count >20 per 100
 surface epithelial cells. Both may show degenerative surface epithelial changes and
 lamina proprial plasmacytosis. Immunohistochemistry is not usually required for
 analysis of intraepithelial lymphocyte numbers.
- Radiation colitis, diversion colitis, diverticular colitis, and graft versus host disease (GVHD): these cannot be diagnosed reliably unless clinical details are forthcoming. They may mimic IBD.^{10,93-95}
- NSAID-induced colitis is worth considering if features do not conform to a recognised pattern.^{93,96}
- Mycophenolate Mofetil colitis may mimic GVHD histologically and can share features with IBD.⁵⁷
- Infections, ischaemia and mucosal prolapse should also be considered.

Polyp biopsies/dysplasia

- Polyp biopsies are most often from hyperplastic polyps or adenomas. Native lymphoid tissue or mucosal folds may mimic a polyp endoscopically.
- Deeper levels are advised if initial slides show no features of a polyp [Level of evidence - C].³⁸⁻⁴⁰
- In the setting of IBD, it is very difficult to distinguish a sporadic adenoma from IBDrelated dysplasia on the basis of biopsy histology.⁹⁷ Currently, the distinction has limited implications for management.

Hirschsprung's disease

- These specimens should be reported in specialist units that receive them regularly. A deep mucosal biopsy should be taken, at least 20 mm above the pectinate line. Fresh tissue may be required. Part or all of the sample can be snap frozen.
- Multiple serial H&E sections from the submucosal aspect towards the mucosal aspect should be examined. Many experts recommend at least 50 sections.
- Guidelines on diagnosis differ, but Hirschsprung's disease (HD) is usually excluded if ganglion cells are seen. HD is very likely if there are no ganglion cells in 50 serial sections. HD is usually diagnosable if, in addition to the absence of ganglion cells, there are abnormal nerve trunks and/or typical cholinergic fibres passing through the muscularis mucosae (acetylcholinesterase histochemistry on frozen tissue/PGP 9.5 immunohistochemistry).⁹⁸

COLORECTAL BIOPSY: RECOMMENDATIONS

If inflamed, categorise as IBD type, infective type, or another type where possible. Consider the possibility of drugs.

Avoid the terms "non-specific chronic colitis" and "non-specific colitis".

The probability of IBD should be stated, especially in initial biopsies. The features that favour IBD over other causes most strongly are basal plasmacytosis and mucosal architectural changes [Level of evidence – A].

If IBD is definite or very likely, the probability of ulcerative colitis (UC) or Crohn's disease should be recorded. The microscopic features that help distinguish UC and Crohn's disease from one another include non-cryptolytic granulomas, architectural changes, and distribution of disease [Level of evidence – A].

The term "indeterminate colitis" is not used for biopsy reporting. If a term is required, "IBD unclassified" should be used.

The acronym "PAID" (pattern, activity, interpretation, dysplasia) is a useful aidememoire for the structure of the conclusion of an IBD biopsy report. The PAID proforma in the BSG guidelines may also be helpful.

Record microscopic colitis as collagenous colitis or lymphocytic colitis, if possible.

Immunohistochemistry for CMV may be useful.

Clinical details are essential. Most types of colitis can only be diagnosed and assessed accurately if a clinical history is provided. This is particularly important for diversion proctocolitis, diverticular colitis, radiation proctocolitis, and graft versus host disease (GVHD) [Level of evidence – D].

2.7 Anal biopsy: additional comments

2.7.1 Report and microscopic description

Indications for biopsy: examples

 Diagnosis and assessment of wart virus change, anal intraepithelial neoplasia (AIN), and malignancy.

General

- "Mapping" biopsies from multiple anal and perianal sites may be received. The appearances at each site should be reported separately, unless they are the same.
- The description of squamous epithelium should include a record of wart virus change and AIN (classified as AIN 1, AIN 2, or AIN 3). Two-tier schemes for grading AIN have not been adopted widely in the UK. Immunohistochemistry for p16 is increasingly being used as a surrogate marker for high risk Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) infection and to help confirm high grade dysplasia but is not currently recommended for routine use.^{99,100} Confirmatory immunohistochemistry for HPV may be useful, if available.

2.8 Ileoanal pouch biopsy: additional comments

2.8.1 Report and microscopic description

Indications for biopsy: examples

- Assessment of inflammation/pouchitis.
- Exclusion of other inflammatory conditions.
- Pre-pouch ileal biopsies may also be taken in this setting.

Pouchitis

Adaptive changes, e.g. villous atrophy and inflammation, may occur in a pouch. Diagnosis of "pouchitis" depends on a combination of clinical, endoscopic and histological findings. Pouch inflammatory scores exist, are required by some centres, and are useful as an *aide memoire* to the pathologist.^{97,101-103}

Comments on the presence of IBD in a pouch biopsy should be cautious. The features of pouchitis may mimic those of UC or Crohn's disease [Level of evidence – C].^{101,104,105}

Biopsies may be taken from columnar mucosa at the distal end of the pouch originating in the anal canal, from specific points within the ileal pouch itself, or from the pre-pouch ileum. These should be received in separate pots and identified accordingly. This permits discrimination of "cuffitis" from "pouchitis" and "pre-pouch ileitis", a distinction that may be impossible to make histologically and that may be clinically important.⁹² Further details are available in standard textbooks.¹⁰⁶

2.9 Ampulla of Vater biopsy: additional comments

2.9.1 Report and microscopic description

Indications for biopsy: examples

- Exclusion of neoplasia.
- Characterisation of focal lesions.
- For IgG4 immunohistochemistry.

Report

The term "ampulla" may refer to the true ampulla and/or the periampullary duodenal mucosa.¹⁰⁷ A report of dysplasia or carcinoma in this area may have profound implications. Histology should be interpreted in the light of clinical and imaging findings and past history. Atypical epithelial changes are not uncommon if there is ulceration, inflammation or a history of intervention. Inflammatory-type polyps can mimic neoplasia.¹⁰⁸ Double reporting or referral to a specialist pathologist may be appropriate *[Level of evidence – GPP].*

IgG4 immunohistochemistry can be performed on biopsies from the ampulla of Vater (as a surrogate diagnostic sample) to support a diagnosis of autoimmune pancreatitis [Level of evidence – D].¹⁰⁹ A ratio of IgG4 to IgG higher than 40% may be used to support the diagnosis.¹¹⁰

2.10 Pancreatic biopsy: additional comments

2.10.1 Macroscopic description of needle core biopsies: additional considerations

Record the length of each core (millimetres).

2.10.2 Sections and stains from needle core biopsies: additional considerations

Production of additional unstained sections at initial processing may be particularly useful for needle core biopsies for several reasons: the amount of tissue obtained is often limited; immunohistochemistry may be needed; and repeat biopsy is difficult.

2.10.3 Clinical

Pancreatic biopsies should ideally be reported in specialist centres with access to appropriate clinical, imaging and histopathological expertise. Details of the indication(s) for biopsy, imaging, operative findings and previous histology are important [Level of evidence – GPP].

2.10.4 Sections and stains

Immunohistochemistry

IgG4 may be useful if autoimmune pancreatitis is suspected.^{110,111} Immunohistochemistry can help characterise pancreatic tumours.^{7,112} A ratio of IgG4 to IgG higher than 40% may be used to support the diagnosis.

2.10.5 Report and microscopic description

Indications for biopsy: examples

- Diagnosis and characterisation of neoplasia.
- Confirmation or exclusion of chronic pancreatitis.

- Chronic pancreatitis can be difficult to distinguish from carcinoma, especially in frozen sections.¹¹²⁻¹¹⁴ Double reporting may be appropriate [Level of evidence – GPP].
- Autoimmune pancreatitis may mimic carcinoma clinically and radiologically.¹¹⁵ The histological changes may support the diagnosis but are not specific.¹¹⁶ Histological peritumoral pancreatitis can have features that overlap with autoimmune pancreatitis. IgG4 immunohistochemistry may be helpful in this situation [Level of evidence C].¹¹² A ratio of IgG4 to IgG higher than 40% may be used to support the diagnosis.¹¹⁰

A cautious approach to the interpretation of a needle core biopsy is advised. Unusual tumours and difficult cases are best diagnosed in conjunction with the imaging findings and after discussion at an appropriate multidisciplinary meeting, preferably by a histopathologist who is familiar with pancreatic pathology [Level of evidence – GPP].^{112,115}

2.11 Endoscopic ultrasound (EUS)-guided fine needle biopsies: additional comments

2.11.1 Macroscopic description of EUS-guided biopsies: additional considerations

• These biopsies are becoming more common. In general the approach is similar to that described above for needle core biopsies. There may be considerable fragmentation. Input from cytopathologists may be helpful.

2.11.1 Sections and stains from needle core biopsies: additional considerations

• Serial sections or unstained sections at initial processing may be useful (see section 2.10 above).

2.11.3 Clinical

• Pancreatic and bile duct biopsies, as noted above, should ideally be reported in specialist centres.

2.11.4 Report and microscopic description

Indications for biopsy: examples

• Diagnosis and characterisation of gastrointestinal and pancreatobiliary neoplasia.

3 Tissue pathways: small gastrointestinal resection specimens

3.1 Appendicectomy

3.1.1 Preparation, dissection and blocks

Sampling [Level of evidence – GPP].

- The tip is bisected longitudinally.²² The remaining appendix can be serially sliced transversely. Alternatively it can be bisected through the surgical margin (base) and any remaining intervening tissue between the bisected base and tip then sliced transversely or longitudinally.
- Sample the surgical margin (base), either longitudinally (as above) or transversely. This section should be identifiable microscopically (e.g. coloured ink/a nick in the relevant section/a section of a different shape/use of a separate cassette, etc.).²²
- Other blocks should include at least one longitudinal half of the tip (with mesoappendix) and at least one more section, plus representative blocks from abnormal areas.²²
- Sample the entire appendix if neoplasia is suspected clinically or at cut-up (see below).
- Sample the entire appendix before reporting that it is not inflamed [Level of evidence GPP].¹¹⁷ If the appendix looks normal at initial cut-up, it may be worth submitting in its entirety at this stage.

3.1.2 Specimen description

- Dimensions (millimetres): length and diameter.²²
- External surface: perforation, peritonitis, congestion, abscess, mucin. If the appendix is dilated, it is particularly important to inspect the unsliced specimen for mucin leakage.¹¹⁸
- Cut surface: luminal contents, mucin, diverticula, nodules, possible carcinoid/neuroendocrine tumour (especially at the tip).

3.1.3 Report and microscopic description

Indications

These include confirmation or exclusion of acute appendicitis and exclusion of neoplasia.

Report

- Appendicitis: transmural acute inflammation is required for diagnosis. Mucosal inflammation (without ulceration) is not universally regarded as sufficient, and may reflect inflammatory bowel disease or infection [Level of evidence – GPP].¹¹⁹
- Peritonitis/serositis without transmural inflammation may reflect extra-appendiceal pathology [Level of evidence – GPP].²² In this circumstance, the entire appendix should be sampled to exclude appendicitis.¹¹⁷
- The possibility of Crohn's disease may be raised, e.g. granulomas and transmural chronic inflammation. However, these changes may occur in appendicitis, particularly if treatment has been delayed [Level of evidence D].^{117,119,120} Ulcerative colitis may also involve the appendix, and this can occur in the absence of caecal involvement [Level of evidence D].^{117,119,121}
- The boundaries between hyperplastic polyps, other serrated lesions, and adenomas are not always easy to define.¹²² If a serrated lesion, dysplasia, or any feature suggestive of carcinoma are seen, sampling of the entire appendix is advised [Level of evidence – GPP]. Epithelial neoplasms and hyperplastic lesions of the appendix may be associated with an increased risk of neoplasia in the large bowel [Level of evidence – D].^{123,124}
- Appendiceal mucinous neoplasms merit extensive sampling, preferably of the entire appendix [Level of evidence – D].¹²⁵
- Record the status of the base (resection margin) if dysplasia or malignancy are present. Report malignancy using appropriate guidelines and texts.^{3,7}

APPENDIX: RECOMMENDATIONS

The tip and the resection margin should be sampled, together with at least one transverse section.

The entire appendix should be sampled if a mucinous lesion or malignancy is suspected clinically or at macroscopic examination; or if a serrated lesion, dysplastic lesion, mucinous lesion or malignant tumour is found on initial histological examination *[Level of evidence – D/GPP]*.

The entire appendix should be sampled before reporting that it is not inflamed [Level of evidence – GPP].

The entire appendix should be sampled if initial examination shows serositis/peritonitis without transmural inflammation [Level of evidence – GPP].

3.2 Polyps (gastric and intestinal)

3.2.1 Preparation, dissection and blocks

Opening and fixation

Slicing prior to fixation may be necessary if the polyp is large. This should not interfere with subsequent attempts to orientate the specimen.

Sampling [Level of evidence - GPP].

- The resection margin (base) should always be identified if possible and should be inked.²²
- All material should be submitted.
- Small fragments or polyps (<5 mm in diameter) can be embedded whole.
- A larger polyp (5 mm or more in diameter) should be bisected or serially sliced. If the polyp can be orientated, slicing should be in the axial plane. The stalk should be preserved and should be present with the body of the polyp in at least one block. Please note: further details are available in relevant guidelines [Level of evidence D].^{2,11}
- If multiple polyps or fragments are received in a single container, identification of separate polyps may be impossible.

3.2.2 Macroscopic description

- Nature of specimen: polypectomy/fragments.
- Dimensions (millimetres): maximum dimension of polyp; length of stalk and/or diameter of base.
- External surface: ulcerated/smooth/lobulated/villous/fronded, etc.
- Cut surface: cysts, mucus, haemorrhage, necrosis.

3.2.3 Sections and stains

Deeper levels

Routine levels are often advised.²² Further levels may help distinguish invasion from gland displacement ("pseudoinvasion") [Level of evidence – GPP].^{38-40,50}

3.2.4 Report and microscopic description

Indications for polypectomy: examples

These include symptom management; characterisation of polyps; documentation of dysplasia and malignancy; and bowel cancer screening programme (BCSP).¹¹

Adenoma

- Adenomas are classified as tubular, tubulovillous or villous, and as having low-grade dysplasia or high-grade dysplasia. A tubulovillous adenoma should be at least 20% villous and a villous adenoma at least 80% villous.
- Definitions vary.⁷ For example, suggested figures for the minimum villous component in a tubulovillous adenoma include 20% and 25%, and suggested figures for the minimum villous component in a villous adenoma include 75% and 80%.^{7,11} Also, interobserver

variability is high. Furthermore, classification may be inaccurate if the whole polyp is not submitted and examined.

- Degree of dysplasia: low grade or high grade, based on architectural changes supplemented by cytological changes.^{7,11,50} Use the terms "adenoma with low grade dysplasia/high grade dysplasia" and not "low grade adenoma/high grade adenoma.¹¹"
- Record completeness of excision, if possible.
- If carcinoma is present, record precise distance from margin, vascular invasion, and differentiation, in particular, as these help predict behaviour [Level of evidence – D]. Refer to the RCPath cancer datasets.²⁻⁴
- Misplaced glands/"pseudoinvasion" can mimic carcinoma. Deeper levels and double reporting may be useful. Occasionally there is no "correct" answer.¹²⁶

Other polyps

- Inflammatory-type polyps may occur in apparently non-inflamed mucosa.
- Juvenile polyp: features vary, and may include expanded lamina propria, variably dilated crypts, inflammation and ulceration.⁹³ A juvenile polyp may be difficult to distinguish from an inflammatory polyp [Level of evidence D].¹²⁷
- Peutz-Jegher polyp: arborising smooth muscle fibres.⁹³ It may mimic other hamartomatous polyps and mucosal prolapse.¹²⁸
- The commonest types of gastric polyp are fundic gland polyps and inflammatory/hyperplastic polyps.

3.3 Anal polyps

3.3.1 Preparation, dissection and blocks

Sampling

All tissue from polyps should be embedded if there is any possibility of dysplasia. Otherwise, representative blocks may be sufficient *[Level of evidence – GPP].*²²

Polyps or fragments >5 mm should be sliced. Fragments 5 mm or less in maximum dimension may be submitted whole.

3.3.2 Specimen description

- Specimen type: polypectomy/fragments.
- Dimensions (millimetres): size of largest fragment or range of dimensions.
- Appearances: surface and cut surface; focal changes, e.g. ulceration, haemorrhage, thrombosis.

3.3.3 Report and microscopic description

Indications

These include management of symptoms and exclusion of dysplasia/malignancy.

- Haemorrhoid: vascular ectasia, congestion, haemorrhage, thrombosis.
- Fibroepithelial polyp.

 Mucosal prolapse: crypt angulation, lamina proprial smooth muscle fibres, fibrosis, erosion. Appearances are influenced by the underlying cause. Can mimic adenocarcinoma[Level of evidence – GPP].¹²⁹

GASTRIC AND INTESTINAL POLYPS: RECOMMENDATIONS

All tissue from gastric and intestinal polyps should be sampled.

The resection margin (base) should be identified wherever possible and should be inked.

Adenomas are classified as tubular, tubulovillous or villous, and as having low grade dysplasia or high grade dysplasia. A tubulovillous adenoma should be at least 20% villous and a villous adenoma at least 80% villous.

Juvenile polyps and inflammatory polyps may have similar histological appearances *[Level of evidence – D].*

3.4 Other anal lesions (e.g. fissure, fistula, sinus)

3.4.1 Preparation, dissection and blocks

Sampling

A resection specimen should be sliced in the plane most likely to demonstrate the lesion. Representative blocks of any track, abscess or other focal changes should be taken *[Level of evidence – GPP]*.²² One block should include skin and any possible opening (punctum),²² and one block should include the deep margin and the lesion. If multiple fragments are received, representative pieces can be sampled.

3.4.2 Specimen description

- Dimensions (millimetres): specimen dimensions; skin dimensions.
- Appearances: record the presence and appearance of skin/mucosa; describe tracks and abscesses and their contents; note the state of the adjacent tissue; and record the presence of dye.

3.4.3 Report and microscopic description

Indications

These include management of symptoms, identification of cause, and exclusion of neoplasia.

- Exclude recognisable causes, e.g. Crohn's disease, tuberculosis, hidradenitis suppurativa, pilonidal sinus, and neoplasia [Level of evidence GPP].^{22,130}
- Describe skin and/or squamous mucosa.
- Note granulomas (which may not be specific in this setting).
- Describe track/abscess, including contents (e.g. hair shafts).

3.5 lleostomy/colostomy

3.5.1 Preparation, dissection and blocks

Opening and fixation

The stoma and bowel may require opening and further fixation.

Sampling/blocks

Ensure that sections include the mucocutaneous junction and the margin(s). Further representative sections as appropriate.

3.5.2 Specimen description

- Dimensions (millimetres): record the length of skin and of bowel.
- Specimen type and appearances: type of stoma; note focal lesions.

3.5.3 Report and microscopic description

Indications for procedure

These include symptom management, loss of stomal function, inflammatory changes, and re-anastomosis.

Report

- The presence of skin should be confirmed.
- Ulceration and inflammation (and mucosal prolapse changes) are frequently seen near a stoma.
- Features suggestive of IBD, e.g. granulomas and chronic inflammation, should be interpreted cautiously in this setting.

3.6 Omentum and omental biopsy

3.6.1 Preparation, dissection and blocks

Sampling

- Core biopsy: embed whole.
- Larger samples: serially slice if large, sample any focal changes, and take representative sections [Level of evidence – GPP]. If there is no macroscopic abnormality, sampling should be guided by the clinical indication for the procedure and may be limited.

3.6.2 Specimen description

- Specimen type: needle core biopsy, omentectomy or fragments of adipose tissue.
- Dimensions (millimetres): core biopsy (length); omentum (maximum dimension); fragments (maximum size of each, or a range of sizes).
- Appearances: note nodules/necrotic foci/abscesses/cysts/fibrosis/probable tumour.²²

3.6.3 Report and microscopic description

Indications

These include characterisation of focal lesions or tumour; technical reasons; and reduction of tumour burden.

Report

Malignancy in the omentum is usually carcinoma. Elucidation of the site of origin of a tumour may be assisted by immunohistochemistry. Exclude other lesions, e.g. tuberculosis.

4 Tissue pathways: large gastrointestinal resection specimens

Preparation, dissection and blocks

Opening and fixation [Level of evidence - GPP].

- A large resection specimen should be received unopened and, ideally, unfixed, so that it can be orientated easily.^{18,21,23} If it cannot be received fresh it should be placed in a volume of formalin at least sufficient to cover it completely.¹⁸
- Ideally, the stomach is opened along the greater curvature and the intestine along the antemesenteric border,¹⁸ unless there is a focal lesion that would be disrupted as a result. The oesophagus may be opened longitudinally along the anterior border or may be left intact, depending on local preference.
- Wash out luminal contents gently with tepid or cold water.¹⁸ Excess washing or the use of hot water may damage the mucosa.
- If the lumen is narrowed or the wall thickened, it may be easier to make serial transverse slices before further fixation, and then leave the specimen intact while fixing.
- Serial transverse slicing (before or after fixation) may facilitate the examination of focal abnormalities of the wall, e.g. diverticula, endometriosis.²²
- Infarcted tissue may be friable and thin-walled and unsuitable for opening.
- Ink relevant margins if there is a possibility of neoplasia. It should be noted that ink may spread into tissue, particularly if the specimen is not dry. Reliance on ink to identify margins should take account of this possibility. Also, some inks are more reliable than others [Level of evidence D].¹³¹
- The specimen should be pinned to a corkboard or stabilised in another way²² and fixed in a volume of formalin that is at least sufficient to cover it.
- Fixation for 48 hours after opening is generally recommended, but adequacy of fixation can be estimated fairly reliably by visual inspection.^{18,22}
- Photographs may be useful, particularly for tumours or inflammatory bowel disease or to facilitate subsequent discussion at meetings.^{18,22} Photographs are advisable in cases of trauma.

Sections and stains

Deeper levels/trim

May be useful if the slide appears not to represent the full face of the block.

4.1 Oesophagectomy/gastrectomy for non-neoplastic disease

4.1.1 Preparation, dissection and blocks

Sampling: margins [Level of evidence – GPP].

- Proximal and distal resection margins: these can be sampled parallel or perpendicular to the margin, depending on the site and nature of the lesion. Perpendicular blocks allow the distance from the lesion to be determined. There is often no published evidence to support sampling of these margins. However, they also serve as samples of background mucosa.
- If sutures are present at the margin, they should be removed before sampling.
- If staples are present along the margin, the stapled tissue should be detached. The stapled tissue cannot be sampled.

Sampling: lesions

Representative samples of focal lesions, e.g. ulcer, abscess, fistula. More blocks should be taken from any suspicious lesion. At least one block should show the relationship with the circumferential margin/serosal surface if this might be relevant. Longitudinal blocks may help show the relationship with oesophagus and/or stomach proximal to and distal to the lesion. If tumour is suspected or is present, the dataset for oesophageal or gastric cancer should be used.²

Sampling: adherent organs

Sample to show any connection, e.g. fistula, diverticulum. A large (wholemount) block may help to show the anatomical relationships more clearly if this is relevant. It may be appropriate to sample the resection margins of any adherent organ.

Sampling: lymph nodes

Take representative lymph nodes.²² If malignancy is suspected, retrieve all regional nodes. A bisected or serially sliced node should not share a cassette with another node if neoplasia is suspected. The number of nodes and pieces in each cassette should be recorded.

4.1.2 Specimen description

Specimen type

Oesophagectomy/total gastrectomy/distal gastrectomy, etc.

Dimensions of specimen (millimetres)

Lengths of oesophagus, greater curve of stomach, lesser curve of stomach and duodenum.²³ Maximum dimension of attached fat.

External surface

- Diffuse changes, e.g. peritonitis, congestion.
- Perforations/defects in wall: record number, site, size, and distance from nearer margin. Consider the possibility that the defects are artefactual or iatrogenic.
- Focal lesions, e.g. stricture, haemorrhage, puckering: record site, size and distance from nearer margin.

Opened oesophagus/stomach/duodenum

 Focal lesions, e.g. ulcer, abscess, stricture, polyp, diverticulum and tumour: record appearance, site, size, and, if relevant, relationship with serosal surface/margins.^{22,23}

- Record appearance of oesophageal, gastric and duodenal mucosa, e.g. evidence of Barrett's oesophagus.
- Distinction between malignant and non-malignant ulcers can be difficult.

4.1.3 Report and microscopic description

Indications for surgery

These include stricture, obesity, peptic ulceration, abscess, trauma and perforation.

Report

- Record appearances of oesophagus, stomach and duodenum.
- Note ulceration, inflammation, abscess, fibrosis, perforation, penetration into other structures, granulomas, foreign bodies, etc.
- Describe polyps.
- Record lymph node histology.
- A resection performed for cancer may show no macroscopic or microscopic tumour, e.g. following neoadjuvant therapy, but should nevertheless be treated as a cancer resection specimen and reported according to the relevant dataset.^{4,5}

4.2 Intestinal resections: general considerations

4.2.1 Preparation, dissection and blocks

Sampling: margins

- Proximal and distal resection margins: can be sampled parallel or perpendicular to the margin, depending on the site and type of the lesion. Perpendicular blocks allow the distance from the lesion to be determined. Mesenteric and/or circumferential margins may be relevant in some cases and should be sampled if malignancy is suspected.^{18,22,63,132} A more detailed description of the approach to the mesenteric/circumferential (non-peritonealised) margins is available in the College dataset for colorectal cancer.²
- If sutures are present at the margin, they should be removed before sampling. If staples are present along the margin, the stapled tissue should be detached. The stapled tissue cannot be sampled.
- In some circumstances, there is no evidence that sampling of proximal and distal margins is of value.⁶³ In other situations (e.g. Crohn's disease) the evidence conflicts.^{18,132}

Sampling: lesions

- In general it is convenient to sample sequentially (i.e. from proximal to distal or distal to proximal).¹⁸ A careful block record is advised, comprising a list of labelled blocks as a minimum, with a corresponding line diagram or annotated photograph where appropriate.
- Longitudinal blocks (perpendicular to mucosal folds) are usually preferable to transverse.²²
- Sample focal lesions, e.g. infarcts, perforations, strictures and abscesses, according to their size and number.²²
- Diffuse abnormalities, e.g. erythema, loss of folds and inflammatory polyposis, are ideally sampled at intervals of 100 mm or less.²²

- If no macroscopic lesion is present, at least two blocks are advised, depending on specimen size and indication. If there is a risk of dysplasia, e.g. in a patient with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), and no macroscopic lesion is seen, samples at intervals of 100 mm or less are advised.^{18,22}
- Samples of macroscopically normal bowel may be informative, e.g. Crohn's disease.²²
- Blocks of the junction between normal and abnormal bowel may be helpful, e.g. ulcerated or ischaemic mucosa.²²
- Mucosal nodules, polyps or irregular areas that might represent dysplasia should be thoroughly sampled, especially if the risk is high (e.g. in IBD).²²
- Sampling should demonstrate the deepest extent of macroscopic changes and the relationship of a lesion with the serosal surface and any nearby margins, if these are likely to be relevant.

Sampling: adherent organs

Sample to show any connection, e.g. fistula, diverticulum. A large (wholemount) block may be useful if a clearer picture of complex anatomical relationships is needed. Sampling of the resection margins of adherent organs may be appropriate.

Sampling: lymph nodes

Representative lymph nodes are advised, as they may show pathological changes which are absent from, or less obvious in, the alimentary tract itself.²² If neoplasia is suspected, retrieve all regional nodes.² A bisected or serially sliced node should not share a cassette with another node, especially if neoplasia is suspected. The number of nodes and pieces in each cassette should be recorded.

Sampling: appendix, ileocaecal junction and mesentery

The tip and body of the appendix should be sampled, and it may be appropriate to submit the entire appendix. A block of the ileocaecal junction may be informative, particularly in cases of IBD. It may be useful to take one or more blocks of mesentery, in a plane likely to demonstrate blood vessels. This is advisable if ischaemia is noted or suspected.²²

4.2.2 Macroscopic description

Specimen type

Small bowel resection/right hemicolectomy/subtotal colectomy/total colectomy/sigmoid colectomy/anterior resection/abdominoperineal resection, etc.²²

Dimensions of specimen (millimetres)

Length of ileum, appendix, colon, rectum, and anal canal. Maximum diameter or range of diameters, if appropriate. Site of peritoneal reflection in rectum.

Bowel: external surface

- Perforations and defects in wall: record number, location, size, and distance from nearer margin. Consider the possibility that these are artefactual or iatrogenic.
- Other focal serosal changes, e.g. puckering, adhesions and strictures: record appearance, size, and location.
- Note fat wrapping, exudate, congestion and pneumatosis (thin walled cysts or bubbles).^{133,134}
- Look for evidence of trauma.
- Note adhesions to bowel or to other organs.

- Note Meckel's diverticulum. This is usually located on the antemesenteric border.
- Record presence of any staples.

Opened bowel

- Lumenal contents, e.g. blood, foreign material.
- Diffuse mucosal changes, e.g. erythema, cobblestoning, loss of mucosal folds, pseudomembranes. Record extent and relationship with nearer margin.
- Note evidence of trauma, e.g. perforation, foreign object. Take photograph if appropriate.
- Focal mucosal lesions, e.g. nodules, ulcers, haemorrhage, polyps: record number, size, appearance, distance from nearer margin and the state of the adjacent wall/circumferential margin/serosal surface.²²
- Stricture, fibrosis, diaphragms: number, location, length, degree of narrowing of lumen, sacculation of bowel, distance from nearer margin.
- Diverticula: approximate number, perforation, abscess.²²
- Ischaemia: length of the affected segment(s) and distance from resection margins. Seek underlying lesions, e.g. adhesion, extrinsic compression, diverticular disease, intussusception, tumour.
- Obstructive colitis occurs at a variable distance proximal to an obstructing lesion.^{7,50} The latter may remain *in situ* in the patient.
- Volvulus: has usually already been corrected surgically once the specimen is received. Signs of ischaemia may be seen.²²
- Diversion proctocolitis: may show diffuse mucosal erythema, haemorrhage, nodularity, granularity and flattening. A history is needed.^{135,136}
- Fistula/abscess: record location and relationship with external surface or with attached organ.
- Appendix: describe external and cut surfaces, or appendix stump.
- Attached organs: describe appearance, relationship with bowel, and presence of fistula, diverticulum, abscess or tumour.
- Mesentery: note haemorrhage, fat necrosis, cystic change, tumour, etc.

4.2.3 Report and microscopic description

Indications for surgery

These include ulceration, haemorrhage, stricture, obstruction, perforation, trauma, ischaemia, intussusception, volvulus, vascular anomaly, diverticular disease, and IBD (e.g. if severe, refractory to treatment, or complicated by dysplasia).

- Proximal and distal margins: record all abnormalities at margins, particularly ischaemia. If there is an abnormality close to a margin, the approximate distance from the margin should be recorded.
- Lymph nodes: record histology, especially specific features such as granulomas.
- Appendix: describe histology, including involvement by IBD and incidental lesions.
- Mesenteric vessels: note thrombosis, vasculitis, atheroma, abnormalities of wall, etc.

Specific conditions

- Diverticula: confirm diverticula. Record complications, e.g. peridiverticular fibrosis, abscess, perforation. Crohn's-like transmural changes can occur. Diverticular colitis may mimic IBD (especially ulcerative colitis).⁹⁴
- Meckel's diverticulum: describe lining (small intestinal/gastric/pancreatic, etc.).^{22,50}
- Volvulus: note associated ischaemia, perforation, melanosis and fibrosis.
- Diversion proctocolitis: can only be diagnosed if the clinical history is known. May mimic IBD.¹³⁴⁻¹³⁶ Granulomas can occur. Inflammation tends to be more severe in the setting of ulcerative colitis than in other settings.¹³⁴⁻¹³⁶
- Motility disorders: exclude other common causes of symptoms. Assess myenteric and submucosal ganglion cells, myenteric plexus, muscularis propria/muscularis mucosae, vasculature. Choice of special stains and immunohistochemistry depends on local expert. Possible myopathies and neuropathies should be referred to a specialist pathologist.

LARGE GI RESECTION SPECIMENS: RECOMMENDATIONS

The specimen may be pinned to a corkboard, or stabilised in another way, and fixed in a volume of formalin at least sufficient to cover it for at least 48 hours after opening.

Serial transverse slices may help to identify focal mural lesions, e.g. diverticula. Otherwise, longitudinal blocks are usually more appropriate.

Sampling of proximal and distal margins is recommended *[Level of evidence – GPP].* This is particularly important for ischaemia. The circumferential (non-peritonealised) margin should be sampled if malignancy is suspected.

Ink relevant margins if there is a possibility of neoplasia.

If lymph nodes are included, they should be sampled.

A careful block record is advised.

Suspected motility disorders should be referred for a specialist opinion.

4.3 Ischaemic bowel: additional comments

4.3.1 Report and microscopic description

Indications for surgery

These include removal of non-viable tissue and management of symptoms.

Considerations

The cause of the ischaemia may already be known. Occasionally, pathological examination reveals the cause, e.g. vasculitis.¹³⁷ Ischaemic changes may be superimposed on other conditions, e.g. IBD, diverticular disease, neoplasia, obstructing lesion. They may even precede some conditions, e.g. IBD.¹³⁸ The status of the resection margins is very important.

- Evidence of acute ischaemia (e.g. haemorrhage, necrosis) or reparative/chronic changes (e.g. fibrosis).¹³⁷
- Severity and depth of acute ischaemic changes/infarction (e.g. mucosal, transmural).
- Abnormalities of mesenteric vessels, e.g. thrombus, atheroma, vasculitis.
- The viability of the resection margins should always be recorded.

4.4 Vascular malformation and angiodysplasia: additional comments

4.4.1 Preparation, dissection and blocks

Opening and fixation

If the specimen is received fresh, it may be possible to inject the vasculature with a contrast medium, e.g. barium sulphate, prior to opening. It can then be distended with formalin, fixed and X-rayed.¹³⁷ However, the specimen is usually received fixed.

Sampling

Sample areas of erythema, haemorrhage, mucosal flattening and discoloration, because macroscopic changes of angiodysplasia may be focal or subtle.¹³⁷

4.4.2 Report and microscopic description

Indications for surgery

These include gastrointestinal haemorrhage and its consequences (e.g. anaemia). Imaging may have suggested angiodysplasia.

Report

- Histology may confirm the diagnosis and help exclude other causes of bleeding.
- Describe vascular abnormalities. Note depth and extent of vascular changes.
- Record evidence of ischaemia.
- Other lesions may be associated with angiodysplastic changes, especially diverticula. Secondary "angiodysplasia" is more common than primary vascular anomalies.¹³⁹

4.5 Inflammatory bowel disease (large intestinal resections): additional comments

4.5.1 Macroscopic description

Opened bowel

Consider whether the macroscopic changes favour ulcerative colitis (UC) (e.g. continuous disease from rectum proximally, sharp transition between abnormal and normal mucosa) or Crohn's disease (e.g. discontinuous disease, cobblestoning, strictures, fat wrapping). A discontinuous caecal "patch" of disease can occur in new or established UC.^{17,140,141} Treated chronic disease may fail to conform to classical patterns *[Level of evidence – C]*.⁸⁶⁻⁸⁹

4.5.2 Report and microscopic description

Indications for surgery

These include refractory or severe disease and dysplasia/carcinoma.

- Chronic inflammation: record extent and distribution and whether transmural or mainly mucosal.
- Active inflammation (cryptitis, crypt abscesses): record extent and severity.
- Ulcers: record type and depth (layer affected, including superficial half or deep half of muscularis propria).

- Granulomas: note whether crypt rupture-related (cryptolytic) and whether necrotising or non-necrotising. Request ZN stain if appropriate.
- CMV inclusions may be present. Consider immunohistochemistry.^{42,44}
- Dysplasia: presence or absence; if present, classify as low grade or high grade.

Classification of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) in resections

- Crohn's disease (discontinuous involvement, ileal disease, deep fissure ulcers, noncryptolytic granulomas, transmural chronic inflammation away from areas of ulceration, etc.).^{22,45,134,142-144}
- UC (continuous involvement from rectum proximally, diffusely abnormal mucosal architecture, mucosa-predominant changes, etc.).^{22,45,134}
- IBD which cannot be classified further. If the term "indeterminate" colitis is used, it should be confined to resection specimens with definite IBD in which a diagnosis of either UC or Crohn's disease cannot be made.^{45,83,145} It should not be used to mean "colitis, cause unknown. "¹⁷ Unfortunately, this term has different meanings for different pathologists and clinicians, may cause confusion, and is overused [Level of evidence D].^{10,83,97,144,146} The term "IBD, unclassified" may be preferable (although it is currently used mainly for biopsies rather than for resections).^{10,83,84} This is a difficult area of diagnosis, which requires full clinicopathological discussion. Assessment may benefit from the input of more than one pathologist. The quality of interpretation is also likely to be enhanced by clinicopathological meetings.^{10,47,48}
- If the features favour UC or Crohn's disease but do not allow a definite diagnosis to be made, expression of a preference (e.g. "IBD, with features favouring UC over Crohn's disease") is more useful than a label of "indeterminate" colitis.
- Classification of type depends not only on current and preceding histology but also on macroscopic appearances and clinical findings.^{10,17,19,46,134}

COLORECTAL RESECTIONS FOR INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASE: RECOMMENDATIONS

The report should record: the extent and distribution of chronic inflammation; the severity of activity; the greatest depth of ulceration; the characteristics of any granulomas; and the presence/absence and grade of dysplasia.

Histological features that strongly favour Crohn's disease over UC are: non-cryptolytic granulomas; and transmural chronic inflammation (away from areas of ulceration). Other features favouring Crohn's disease include: discontinuous involvement; ileal inflammation; and deep (rather than superficial) fissure ulcers.

Histological features that favour UC over Crohn's disease include: continuous involvement from the rectum proximally; diffusely abnormal mucosal architecture; and mucosa-predominant inflammatory changes.

Anatomical discontinuity of disease is not uncommon in longstanding/treated UC [Level of evidence – C].

A discontinuous caecal "patch" of disease can occur in new or established UC.

IBD which cannot be classified further in resections can be termed "indeterminate colitis" or "IBD unclassified" (IBDU).

The quality of interpretation is likely to be enhanced by clinicopathological meetings *[Level of evidence – GPP].*

4.6 Small bowel resection for stricture/Crohn's disease: additional comments

4.6.1 Report and microscopic description

Indications for surgery

These include relief of symptoms or of obstruction; identification of the cause; and removal of non-viable bowel.

Considerations

A small bowel stricture might be due to ischaemia, Crohn's disease, drugs (particularly NSAIDs), infection, radiation, endometriosis, previous surgery, extrinsic compression, neoplasia or other causes.^{22,106} Cryptogenic forms of ulceration and stricturing have been reported.¹⁴⁷

Report

- Record and describe ulceration, inflammation, fibrosis and granulomas.
- Seek evidence of Crohn's disease.
- Look for evidence of trauma, ischaemia, endometriosis (glands, stroma, and haemorrhage), radiation damage (needs appropriate history), NSAID-induced enteritis (including diaphragms) or specific infections.
- Obtain a full clinical history before concluding.

4.7 Intussusception: additional comments

4.7.1 **Preparation**, dissection and blocks

Sampling [Level of evidence – GPP].

Apex of intussusception, including possible causative lesion. Demonstrate intussusception if possible. Margins are important if there is ischaemia.

4.7.2 Macroscopic description

Dimensions

Length of intussusception; distance of apex from distal resection margin; distance of neck from proximal margin; diameter of lumen.

Opened bowel

- Type of intussusception: ileoileal/ileocolic/colocolic.¹⁴⁸
- Appearance of the mucosa; state of the underlying wall; ischaemia.²²
- Look for a causative lesion: foreign body, polyp, diverticulum, duplication, various tumours, ileal lymphoid hyperplasia, appendix.^{50,148,149} In young children, a cause is often not found.¹⁴⁹

5 Tissue pathways: pancreatobiliary resection specimens

5.1 Bile duct resection

5.1.1 Preparation, dissection and blocks

Opening and fixation

It may be useful to ink the proximal and distal margins and the external surface if neoplasia is suspected.^{22,150} Distinction of circumferential resection margins (posterior and left lateral) from serosal surfaces (anterior and right lateral) is often difficult.^{33,150}

Minimum sampling [Level of evidence - GPP].

- One approach is to take the proximal or distal resection margin *en face* followed by sequential transverse slices as far as the other resection margin, especially if there is any suggestion of neoplasia.^{33,150} If there is a lesion close to a margin, perpendicular (radial) sections of this margin may be more informative than transverse (*en face*).³³
- Focal lesions: take at least one block, which should show the depth of the lesion and its distance from the external surface.
- Gall bladder (if included): if no focal lesion is present, treat as routine cholecystectomy. If a lesion is seen, take multiple sections.
- All lymph nodes should be taken.¹⁵⁰

5.1.2 Specimen description

- Specimen type: specify what is included, e.g. common hepatic duct, cystic duct, common bile duct, etc., and record the presence of a stent. The surgeon may be able to assist if orientation is difficult.
- Dimensions of specimen (millimetres): length of each portion and total length of specimen; maximum diameter or range of diameters, if appropriate; dimensions of attached organs or tissue.
- Appearances: record any focal lesions (e.g. strictures, perforation, nodules) and their site, size, and relationship with margins; note cysts or cystic dilatations.

5.1.3 Report and microscopic description

Indications for surgery

These include: management of symptoms; removal of stricture or choledochal cyst;¹⁵⁰ abnormal imaging; and exclusion of neoplasia.

- Record features suggestive of sclerosing cholangitis, follicular cholangitis,¹⁵¹ or IgG4associated cholangitis.¹⁵²
- Inflammatory epithelial atypia can be severe, especially proximal to an obstruction or after stent insertion.
- Deeply located periductal glands can mimic neoplasia and *vice versa*.¹⁰⁷ Their lobular arrangement may help to distinguish them from neoplasia.

5.2 Cholecystectomy for non-neoplastic disease

5.2.1 Preparation, dissection and blocks

Opening and fixation

Open the gall bladder longitudinally along the serosal surface,^{22,33} avoiding disruption of the cystic duct margin and gall bladder bed resection margin. Ink the gall bladder bed margin if neoplasia is suspected.³³

Sampling [Level of evidence - GPP].

- Cystic duct margin *en face*.¹⁵⁰ This may be located adjacent to a clip. Ensure that it is identifiable after processing (e.g. histologically distinct section/inked section/section in separate cassette).
- Cystic duct lymph node.^{22,150} This is often present, but may be small.
- At least one section each of neck, body and any focal lesion.¹⁵⁰ This might include a full transverse "ring" of gallbladder before opening.
- Attached organ, to characterise relationship with gall bladder.
- Polyps or lesions suspicious of neoplasia: sample thoroughly.^{22,150}

5.2.2 Specimen description

Dimensions of specimen (millimetres)

Length and maximum diameter of gall bladder.^{22,150} Dimensions of any attached organs.

Appearances

- Record whether intact, opened or fragmented on receipt.^{22,33}
- Note perforations or defects in wall, serosal haemorrhage, etc.^{22,150}
- Contents: note stones (number, range of sizes), bile and mucus.^{22,150}
- Record mucosal changes, e.g. cholesterolosis, ulcer, polyp.^{22,150}
- Record thickness of gall bladder wall.^{33,150}
- Note abscess, fistula and diverticulum. Record site, size, and relationship with external surface or attached organ.
- Polyp or tumour: describe and record site, size, depth, macroscopic features of a suspected malignant tumour (polypoid/ulcerating/plaque-like/infiltrative) and relationship with peritoneal surface and hepatic gall bladder bed resection margin (see relevant RCPath dataset).^{33,34}

5.2.3 Report and microscopic description

Indications for surgery

These include management of symptoms and characterisation of lesions seen on imaging.

- Chronic cholecystitis/acute cholecystitis/features of both.^{22,133,150} Rokitansky Aschoff sinuses can mimic carcinoma (both macroscopically and microscopically).¹³³
- Cystic duct lymph node.
- Describe attached tissue, e.g. liver.

- If dysplasia is found, extra blocks are required to exclude higher grade dysplasia/malignancy. The entire gall bladder should be examined if dysplasia is high grade.¹⁵³ Involvement of the resection margin should be recorded [Level of evidence – GPP].
- Carcinoma: see RCPath dataset.³³

GALL BLADDER: RECOMMENDATIONS

Open along the serosal surface.

Sample cystic duct margin. Take lymph node (if present). Sample gall bladder body and any focal lesions.

If high grade dysplasia or malignancy is found, examine the entire gall bladder histologically. If low grade dysplasia is found, examine additional blocks.

5.3 Pancreatic resection for non-neoplastic disease

5.3.1 Preparation, dissection and blocks

Opening and fixation

Ink resection margins and other external surfaces if neoplasia is suspected.^{6,112} Slice the pancreas and open the bowel to ensure fixation.

Sampling (Whipples specimen)

- Resection margins of bile duct/hepatic duct, duodenum or stomach, and pancreas.¹¹²
- All focal lesions. At least two representative blocks of pancreas if no focal lesion, depending on clinical indication. Usually, more blocks are required, and are particularly important if neoplasia is suspected or if findings do not correlate with imaging. Large blocks may be useful [Level of evidence – GPP].
- All peripancreatic lymph nodes, especially if neoplasia is a possibility.
- If there is a bile duct lesion, serial sequential bile duct blocks are advisable.
- All margins and surfaces if a suspicious lesion is seen.⁶
- Ampulla of Vater with adjacent pancreas.

Sampling (distal pancreatectomy)

- Proximal pancreas resection margin *en face*, unless the lesion is close to this margin in which case perpendicular (radial) sections may be more informative.^{112,150}
- All focal lesions. At least two representative blocks of pancreas if no focal lesion, depending on clinical indication. Usually, more blocks are required, and are particularly important if neoplasia is suspected or if findings do not correlate with imaging.
- All peripancreatic lymph nodes, especially if neoplasia is a possibility

Sampling (Beger, Frey or Puestow procedure)

• Embed whole specimen (often received in fragments) to exclude malignancy.¹¹²

5.3.2 Specimen description

Specimen type

Pylorus-preserving pancreatoduodenectomy/Whipple's resection (partial gastrectomy also included)/distal pancreatectomy, specimens following Beger, Frey or Puestow procedure.¹¹²

Dimensions of specimen (millimetres)

Pancreas in three dimensions. Extrapancreatic bile duct length. Bowel length.^{6,112}

Appearances

- Pancreas: note fibrosis, calcification, fat necrosis, haemorrhage.^{112,150,154}
- Focal lesions (nodules, cysts, abscesses): record location, size, and relationship with margins.
- Small bowel: note congestion, stricture, nodules and mucosal changes.
- Tumour: refer to RCPath dataset.⁶

5.3.3 Sections and stains

Immunohistochemistry

IgG4 may be useful for supporting a diagnosis of autoimmune pancreatitis [Level of evidence – *C*]. A ratio of IgG4 to IgG higher than 40% may be used to support the diagnosis.¹¹⁰ However, diagnosis is based on a combination of imaging, clinical, serological and pathological findings.¹¹⁰⁻¹¹²

5.3.4 Report and microscopic description

Indications for surgery: examples

- Resection of a tumour or suspected tumour (e.g. suspicious imaging findings).
- Severe chronic pancreatitis
- To control symptoms or relieve duct obstruction.

Report

- Features of chronic pancreatitis, e.g. chronic inflammation, fibrosis, atrophy. These changes can mimic neoplasia.^{107,112,114,115,154} Consider autoimmune pancreatitis (storiform fibrosis, dense lymphoplasmacytic inflammation and obliterative phlebitis).
- Note ectopic/heterotopic tissue.
- Neoplasms: refer to the RCPath dataset and other standard texts.^{3,6,7,107,112}

5.4 Pancreatic resection: cysts

5.4.1 Preparation, dissection and blocks

Opening and fixation

Ink external surfaces, especially if suspicious or focal lesions are present.^{22,112}

Sampling

One block per 10 mm diameter, especially if neoplasia suspected.^{22,150} Sample any focal changes, nodules, or more solid areas.^{22,150} Consider sampling the entire wall of the cyst to identify (or exclude) an epithelial lining *[Level of evidence – GPP]*.¹¹²

5.4.2 Specimen description

- Specimen type: Whipples/distal pancreatectomy/intact cyst/opened cyst.
- Dimensions of specimen (millimetres): diameter/maximum dimension of cyst.^{22,112} Size of attached pancreas/other tissue.
- Appearances: external surface (smooth/nodular etc.); contents (mucoid/serous/haemorrhagic); lining (smooth/ulcers/nodules/papillary areas); wall (consistency, nodules, calcification); attached pancreas (fibrosis, calcification, abscess, relationship with cyst).^{22,112,150}

5.4.3 Sections and stains

Additional stains

Mucin stains and immunohistochemistry may help characterise the lining. Immunohistochemistry may also help characterise the subepithelial stroma, where relevant.^{22,112,154}

5.4.4 Report and microscopic description

Indications for surgery

These include exclusion of neoplasia and management of symptoms.

Report

- Describe lining: endothelial cells, no epithelium, or epithelium (flat/cuboidal/squamous/columnar mucinous/columnar ciliated/papillary).
 Presence/absence and grade of dysplasia.
- Look for microorganisms (e.g. Echinococcus in a hydatid cyst).
- Underlying stroma: fibrous/ovarian-type/pancreatic tissue/invasive tumour.
- A wide variety of cysts (non-neoplastic vs neoplastic, non-epithelial vs epithelial) may occur in the pancreas.¹¹²

PANCREATIC CYSTS: RECOMMENDATIONS

Sample papillary, mucoid and solid areas in the cyst wall.

Consider embedding the entire wall of the cyst to identify or exclude epithelial lining.

6 Criteria for audit of tissue pathway

Audits of the value and applicability of this pathway may be useful. A template for audit of colorectal biopsies taken for the diagnosis and assessment of IBD is currently available on the College website. Other possible audits could explore the completeness of recording of data items in histopathology reports, ranges of turnaround times, or compliance with the College's key performance indicators.

Content and timeliness of histopathology reports should be audited against the recommendations in these guidelines.

The following are recommended by the RCPath as key performance indicators (KPIs) – see *Key Performance Indicators – Proposals for implementation* (July 2013) on <u>https://www.rcpath.org/resource-library-homepage/clinical-effectiveness/key-performance-indicators-kpi.html</u>:

• Cancer resections must be reported using a template or proforma, including items listed in the English COSD which is, by definition, core data items in RCPath cancer datasets. English Trusts were required to implement the structured recording of core pathology data in the COSD by January 2016.

Standard: 95% of reports must contain structured data.

• Histopathology cases that are reported, confirmed and authorised within seven and ten calendar days of the procedure.

Standard: 80% of cases must be reported within seven calendar days and 90% within ten calendar days.

References

- Feakins RM, Campbell F, Mears L, Moffat C, Scott N, Allen D. *Tissue pathways for* gastrointestinal and pancreatobiliary pathology. London: Royal College of Pathologists, 2009. https://www.rcpath.org/resource-library-homepage/publications/cancer-datasets.html
- 2. Loughrey MB, Quirke P, Shepherd NA. *Dataset for colorectal cancer (3rd edition)*. London: Royal College of Pathologists, 2014. https://www.rcpath.org/resource-library-homepage/publications/cancer-datasets.html
- 3. Stephenson TJ, Cross SS, Chetty R. *Dataset for neuroendocrine tumours of the gastrointestinal tract including pancreas (3rd edition)*. London: The Royal College of Pathologists, 2012. https://www.rcpath.org/resource-library-homepage/publications/cancer-datasets.html
- 4. Novelli M. Dataset for the histopathological reporting of gastric carcinoma (2nd edition). London: The Royal College of Pathologists, 2007. <u>https://www.rcpath.org/resource-library-homepage/publications/cancer-datasets.html</u>
- 5. Mapstone N. Dataset for the histopathological reporting of oesophageal carcinoma (2nd edition). London: The Royal College of Pathologists, 2007. https://www.rcpath.org/resource-library-homepage/publications/cancer-datasets.html
- 6. Campbell F, Foulis AK, Verbeke CS. *Dataset for the histopathological reporting of carcinomas of the pancreas, ampulla of Vater and common bile duct (2nd edition)*. London: The Royal College of Pathologists, 2010. <u>https://www.rcpath.org/resource-library-homepage/publications/cancer-datasets.html</u>
- 7. Bosman FT, World Health Organization, International Agency for Research on Cancer. *WHO classification of tumours of the digestive system (4th edition)*. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2010.
- 8. Stange EF, Travis SPL, Vermeire S, Beglinger C, Kupcinkas L, Geboes K *et al.* European evidence based consensus on the diagnosis and management of Crohn's disease: definitions and diagnosis. *Gut* 2006;55 (suppl 1):i1-i15.

- 9. Fitzgerald RC, di Pietro M, Ragunath K, Ang Y, Kang JY, Watson P *et al.* British Society of Gastroenterology guidelines on the diagnosis and management of Barrett's oesophagus. *Gut* 2014;63:7-42.
- 10. Feakins RM. Inflammatory bowel disease biopsies: updated British Society of Gastroenterology reporting guidelines. *J Clin Pathol* 2013;66:1005-1026.
- 11. Carey F, Newbold M, Quirke P *et al. Reporting lesions in the NHS Bowel Cancer Screening Programme.* Sheffield: NHS Cancer Screening Programmes, 2007.
- 12. Dixon MF, Genta RM, Yardley JH, Correa P. Classification and grading of gastritis. The updated Sydney System. International Workshop on the Histopathology of Gastritis, Houston 1994. *Am J Surg Pathol* 1996;20:1161-1181.
- 13. Schlemper RJ, Riddell RH, Kato Y, Borchard F, Cooper HS, Dawsey SM *et al.* The Vienna classification of gastrointestinal epithelial neoplasia. *Gut* 2000;47:251-255.
- 14. Thorpe A, Al-Jafari M, Allen D, Carr R, Helliwell T, Sanders S. Guidelines on staffing and workload for histopathology and cytopathology departments (4th edition): The Royal College of Pathologists, 2012. <u>https://www.rcpath.org/resource-library-homepage/publications/specialty-specificpublications.html</u>
- 15. The Royal College of Pathologists. *Key performance indicators in pathology. Recommendations from the Royal College of Pathologists*. London: The Royal College of Pathologists, 2013. <u>https://www.rcpath.org/resource-library-homepage/clinical-effectiveness/key-performanceindicators-kpi.html</u>:
- 16. Lowe J, Wells M. *Guidance on inter-departmental dispatch of histopathology material for referral and clinical trials*. London: The Royal College of Pathologists, 2014. <u>https://www.rcpath.org/resource-library-homepage/publications/specialty-specific-publications.html</u>
- 17. Stange EF, Travis SPL, Vermeire S, Reinisch W, Geboes K, Barakauskiene A *et al.* for the European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation (ECCO). European evidence-based consensus on the diagnosis and management of ulcerative colitis: definitions and diagnosis. *J Crohns Colitis* 2008;2:1-23.
- 18. Burroughs SH, Williams GT. ACP Best practice no 159. Examination of large intestine resection specimens. *J Clin Pathol* 2000;53:344-349.
- 19. Tanaka M, Saito H, Fukuda S, Sasaki Y, Munakata A, Kudo H. Simple mucosal biopsy criteria differentiating among Crohn disease, ulcerative colitis, and other forms of colitis: measurement of validity. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2000;35:281-286.
- 20. Shepherd NA, Valori RM. The effective use of gastrointestinal histopathology: guidelines for endoscopic biopsy in the gastrointestinal tract. *Frontline Gastroenterol* 2014;5:84-87.
- 21. Sheffield JP, Talbot IC. ACP Broadsheet 132: September 1992. Gross examination of the large intestine. *J Clin Pathol* 1992;45:751-755.
- 22. Allen DC, Cameron RI. *Histopathology Specimens. Clinical, pathological and laboratory aspects. (2nd edition).* London: Springer, 2013.
- 23. Ibrahim N. ACP best practice No. 155. Guidelines for handling oesophageal biopsies and resection specimens and their reporting. *J Clin Pathol* 2000;53:89-94.
- CEff 180116

- 24. Eaden J, Abrams K, McKay H, Denley H, Mayberry J. Inter-observer variation between general and specialist gastrointestinal pathologists when grading dysplasia in ulcerative colitis. *J Pathol* 2001;194:152-157.
- 25. Cairns SR, Scholefield JH, Steele RJ, Dunlop MG, Thomas HJ, Evans GD *et al.* Guidelines for colorectal cancer screening and surveillance in moderate and high risk groups (update from 2002). *Gut* 2010;59:666-689.
- 26. NHS Bowel Cancer Screening Programme. NHS BCSP Pathology QA Standards (2013 review) 2013. http://www.virtualpathology.leeds.ac.uk/nbcs/Documents/NHSBCSP%20Pathology%20stan dards%20-%202013%20Revision.doc.
- 27. Kerkhof M, van Dekken H, Steyerberg EW, Meijer GA, Mulder AH, de Buine A *et al.* Grading of dysplasia in Barrett's oesophagus: substantial interobserver variation between general and gastrointestinal pathologists. *Histopathology* 2007;50:920-927.
- 28. Mahajan D, Downs-Kelly E, Liu X, Pai RK, Patil DT, Rybicki L *et al.* Reproducibility of the villous component and high-grade dysplasia in colorectal adenomas <1 cm: implications for endoscopic surveillance. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2013;37:427-433.
- 29. Osmond A, Li-Chang H, Kirsch R, Divaris D, Falck V, Liu DF *et al.* Interobserver variability in assessing dysplasia and architecture in colorectal adenomas: a multicentre Canadian study. *J Clin Pathol* 2014;67:781-786.
- 30. Foss FA, Milkins S, McGregor AH. Inter-observer variability in the histological assessment of colorectal polyps detected through the NHS Bowel Cancer Screening Programme. *Histopathology* 2012;61:47-52.
- 31. Riddell RH, Goldman H, Ransohoff DF, Appelman HD, Fenoglio CM, Haggitt RC *et al.* Dysplasia in inflammatory bowel disease: standardized classification with provisional clinical applications. *Hum Pathol* 1983;14:931-968.
- 32. Hopcroft SA, Shepherd NA. The changing role of the pathologist in the management of Barrett's oesophagus. *Histopathology* 2014;65:441-455.
- 33. Wyatt J, Huebscher S, Goldin R. *Dataset for histopathology reporting of liver resection specimens (including gall bladder) and liver biopsies for primary and metastatic carcinoma (2nd edition)*. London: The Royal College of Pathologists, 2012. https://www.rcpath.org/resource-library-homepage/publications/cancer-datasets.html
- 34. Sobin LH, Gospodarowicz MK, Wittekind Ch, International Union against Cancer. *TNM classification of malignant tumours (7th edition)*. Chichester, West Sussex, UK; Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell, 2010.
- 35. Leong AS, Gilham PN. The effects of progressive formaldehyde fixation on the preservation of tissue antigens. *Pathology* 1989;21:266-268.
- 36. Goldstein NS, Ferkowicz M., Odish E., Mani A., Hastah F. Minimum formalin fixation time for consistent estrogen receptor immunohistochemical staining of invasive breast carcinoma. *Am J Clin Pathol* 2003;120:86-92.
- 37. Bateman AC, Patel P. Lower gastrointestinal endoscopy: guidance on indications for biopsy *Frontline Gastroenterol* 2014;5:96-102.

- 38. Warnecke M, Engel UH, Bernstein I, Mogensen AM, Holck S. Biopsies of colorectal clinical polyps--emergence of diagnostic information on deeper levels. *Pathol Res Pract* 2009;205:231-240.
- 39. Nielsen JA, Lager DJ, Lewin M, Weber JJ, Roberts CA. Incidence of diagnostic change in colorectal polyp specimens after deeper sectioning at 2 different laboratories staffed by the same pathologists. *Am J Clin Pathol* 2013;140:231-237.
- 40. Nash JW, Niemann T, Marsh WL, Frankel WL. To step or not to step: an approach to clinically diagnosed polyps with no initial pathologic finding. *Am J Clin Pathol* 2002;117:419-423.
- 41. Chitkara YK, Eyre CL. Evaluation of initial and deeper sections of esophageal biopsy specimens for detection of intestinal metaplasia. *Am J Clin Pathol* 2005;123:886-888.
- 42. Mönkemüller KE, Bussian AH, Lazenby AJ, Wilcox CM. Special histologic stains are rarely beneficial for the evaluation of HIV-related gastrointestinal infections. *Am J Clin Pathol* 2000;114:387-394.
- 43. Lewin DNB. Systemic illnesses involving the gastrointestinal tract. In: Odze RD, Goldblum JR, eds. *Surgical pathology of the GI tract, liver, biliary tract and pancreas (3rd edition)*. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier, 2015;115-137.
- 44. Kambham N, Vij R, Cartwright CA, Longacre T. Cytomegalovirus infection in steroidrefractory ulcerative colitis: a case-control study. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2004;28:365-373.
- 45. Langner C, Magro F, Driessen A, Ensari A, Mantzaris GJ, Villanacci V *et al.* The histopathological approach to inflammatory bowel disease: a practice guide. *Virchows Arch* 2014;464:511-527.
- 46. Dejaco C, Oesterreicher C, Angelberger S, Püspök A, Birner P, Poetzi R *et al.* Diagnosing colitis: a prospective study on essential parameters for reaching a diagnosis. *Endoscopy* 2003;35:1004-1008.
- 47. Rex DK, Bond JH, Winawer S, Levin TR, Burt RW, Johnson DA *et al.* Quality in the technical performance of colonoscopy and the continuous quality improvement process for colonoscopy: recommendations of the U.S. Multi-Society Task Force on Colorectal Cancer. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2002;97:1296-1308.
- 48. Attanoos RL, Bull AD, Douglas-Jones AG, Fligelstone LJ, Semararo D. Phraseology in pathology reports. A comparative study of interpretation among pathologists and surgeons. *J Clin Pathol* 1996;49:79-81.
- 49. Koenig M, Schofield JB, Warren BF, Shepherd NA. The routine use of histochemical stains in gastrointestinal pathology: a UK-wide survey. *Histopathology* 2009;55:214-217.
- 50. Fenoglio-Preiser CM, Noffsinger AE, Stemmerman GN, Lantz PE, Isaacson PG. *Gastrointestinal Pathology. An atlas and text. (3rd edition).* Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, 2008.
- 51. Harrison R, Perry I, Haddadin W, McDonald S, Bryan R, Abrams K *et al.* Detection of intestinal metaplasia in Barrett's esophagus: an observational comparator study suggests the need for a minimum of eight biopsies. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2007;102:1154-1161.
- 52. Wright CL, Kelly JK. The use of routine special stains for upper gastrointestinal biopsies. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2006;30:357-361.

- 53. EI-Zimaity HM, Graham DY. Cytokeratin subsets for distinguishing Barrett's esophagus from intestinal metaplasia in the cardia using endoscopic biopsy specimens. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2001;96:1378-1382.
- 54. Glickman JN, Wang H, Das KM, Goyal RK, Spechler SJ, Antonioli D *et al.* Phenotype of Barrett's esophagus and intestinal metaplasia of the distal esophagus and gastroesophageal junction: an immunohistochemical study of cytokeratins 7 and 20, Das-1 and 45 MI. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2001;25:87-94.
- 55. Collins MH. Histopathology of eosinophilic esophagitis. *Dig Dis* 2014;32:68-73.
- 56. Dellon ES, Speck O, Woodward K, Covey S, Rusin S, Shaheen NJ *et al.* Distribution and variability of esophageal eosinophilia in patients undergoing upper endoscopy. *Mod Pathol* 2015;28:383-390.
- 57. Parfitt JR, Jayakumar S, Driman DK. Mycophenolate mofetil-related gastrointestinal mucosal injury: variable injury patterns, including graft-versus-host disease-like changes. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2008;32:1367-1372.
- 58. Dellon ES, Gonsalves N, Hirano I, Furuta GT, Liacouras CA, Katzka DA *et al.* ACG clinical guideline: Evidenced based approach to the diagnosis and management of esophageal eosinophilia and eosinophilic esophagitis (EoE). *Am J Gastroenterol* 2013;108:679-692; quiz 693.
- 59. Watson A, Heading RC, Shepherd NA *et al.* Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of Barrett's columnar-lined oesophagus. A Report of the Working Party of the British Society of Gastroenterology. London: British Society of Gastroenterology, 2003.
- 60. Bhat S, Coleman HG, Yousef F, Johnston BT, McManus DT, Gavin AT *et al.* Risk of malignant progression in Barrett's esophagus patients: results from a large population-based study. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2011;103:1049-1057.
- 61. Genta RM, Lash RH. Helicobacter pylori-negative gastritis: seek, yet ye shall not always find. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2010;34:e25-34.
- 62. Batts KP, Ketover S, Kakar S, Krasinskas AM, Mitchell KA, Wilcox R *et al.* Appropriate use of special stains for identifying Helicobacter pylori: Recommendations from the Rodger C. Haggitt Gastrointestinal Pathology Society. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2013;37:e12-22.
- 63. Howat A, Working party on histopathology and cytopathology of limited or no clinical value. *Histopathology and cytopathology of limited or no clinical value*. London: The Royal College of Pathologists, 2005.
- 64. Chen Z, Scudiere JR, Montgomery E. Medication-induced upper gastrointestinal tract injury. *J Clin Pathol* 2009;62:113-119.
- 65. Wu TT, Hamilton S. Lymphocytic Gastritis: Association with Etiology and Topology. *Am J Surg Pathol* 1999;23:153-158.
- 66. Lash RH, Lauwers GY, Odze RD, Genta RM. Inflammatory disorders of the stomach. In: Odze RD, Goldblum JR, eds. *Surgical pathology of the GI tract, liver, biliary tract and pancreas (3rd edition)*. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier, 2015;352-401.
- 67. Shapiro JL, Goldblum JR, Petras RE. A clinicopathologic study of 42 patients with granulomatous gastritis. Is there really an "idiopathic" granulomatous gastritis? *Am J Surg Pathol* 1996;20:462-470.

- 68. Sandmeier D, Bouzourene H. Does idiopathic granulomatous gastritis exist? *Histopathology* 2005;46:352-353.
- 69. Ho-Yen C, Chang F, van der Walt J, Mitchell T, Ciclitira P. Recent advances in refractory coeliac disease: a review. *Histopathology* 2009;54:783-795.
- 70. Ludvigsson JF, Bai JC, Biagi F, Card TR, Ciacci C, Ciclitira PJ *et al.* Diagnosis and management of adult coeliac disease: guidelines from the British Society of Gastroenterology. *Gut* 2014;63:1210-1228.
- 71. Sinelnikov I, Sion-Vardy N, Shaco-Levy R. C-kit (CD117) immunostain is useful for the diagnosis of Giardia lamblia in duodenal biopsies. *Hum Pathol* 2009;40:323-325.
- 72. Scott BB, Losowsky MS. Patchiness and duodenal-jejunal variation of the mucosal abnormality in coeliac disease and dermatitis herpetiformis. *Gut* 1976;17:984-992.
- 73. Lebwohl B, Kapel RC, Neugut AI, Green PH, Genta RM. Adherence to biopsy guidelines increases celiac disease diagnosis. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011;74:103-109.
- 74. Gonzalez S, Gupta A, Cheng J, Tennyson C, Lewis SK, Bhagat G *et al.* Prospective study of the role of duodenal bulb biopsies in the diagnosis of celiac disease. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2010;72:758-765.
- 75. Evans KE, Aziz I, Cross SS, Sahota GR, Hopper AD, Hadjivassiliou M *et al.* A prospective study of duodenal bulb biopsy in newly diagnosed and established adult celiac disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2011;106:1837-1842.
- 76. Mino M, Lauwers GY. Role of lymphocytic immunophenotyping in the diagnosis of glutensensitive enteropathy with preserved villous architecture. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2003;27:1237-1242.
- 77. Robert ME GJ. Inflammatory disorders of the small intestine. In: Odze RD, Goldblum JR, eds. *Surgical pathology of the GI tract, liver, biliary tract and pancreas*. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier, 2015;402-435.
- 78. Washington K, Stenzel TT, Buckley RH, Gottfried MR. Gastrointestinal pathology in patients with common variable immunodeficiency and X-linked agammaglobulinemia. *Am J Surg Pathol* 1996;20:1240-1252.
- 79. Geboes K, Ectors N, D'Haens G, Rutgeerts P. Is ileoscopy with biopsy worthwhile in patients presenting with symptoms of inflammatory bowel disease? *Am J Gastroenterol* 1998;93:201-206.
- 80. Goldstein N, Dulai M. Contemporary morphologic definition of backwash ileitis in ulcerative colitis and features that distinguish it from Crohn disease. *Am J Clin Pathol* 2006;126:365-376.
- 81. Greaves ML, Pochapin M. Asymptomatic ileitis: past, present, and future. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 2006;40:281-285.
- 82. Geboes K, Villanacci V. Terminology for the diagnosis of colitis. Are indeterminate colitis and microscopic colitis useful terms? *J Clin Pathol* 2005;58:1133-1134.
- 83. Silverberg MS, Satsangi J, Ahmad T, Arnott ID, Bernstein CN, Brant SR *et al.* Toward an integrated clinical, molecular and serological classification of inflammatory bowel disease: Report of a Working Party of the 2005 Montreal World Congress of Gastroenterology. *Can J Gastroenterol* 2005;19 (Suppl A):5-36.

- 84. Mowat C, Cole A, Windsor A, Ahmad T, Arnott I, Driscoll R *et al.* Guidelines for the management of inflammatory bowel disease in adults. *Gut* 2011;60:571-607.
- 85. Satsangi J, Silverberg MS, Vermeire S, Colombel JF. The Montreal classification of inflammatory bowel disease: controversies, consensus, and implications. *Gut* 2006;55:749-753.
- 86. Odze R, Antonioli D, Peppercorn M, Goldman H. Effect of topical 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA) therapy on rectal mucosal biopsy morphology in chronic ulcerative colitis. *Am J Surg Pathol* 1993;17:869-875.
- 87. Bernstein CN, Shanahan F, Anton PA, Weinstein WM. Patchiness of mucosal inflammation in treated ulcerative colitis: a prospective study. *Gastrointest Endosc* 1995;42:232-237.
- 88. Kim B, Barnett JL, Kleer CG, Appelman HD. Endoscopic and histological patchiness in treated ulcerative colitis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1999;94:3258-3262.
- 89. Kleer CG, Appelman HD. Ulcerative colitis: patterns of involvement in colorectal biopsies and changes with time. *Am J Surg Pathol* 1998;22:983-989.
- 90. Schumacher G, Kollberg B, Sandstedt B. A prospective study of first attacks of inflammatory bowel disease and infectious colitis. Histologic course during the 1st year after presentation. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 1994;29:318-332.
- 91. Surawicz CM, Haggitt RC, Husseman M, McFarland LV. Mucosal biopsy diagnosis of colitis: acute self-limited colitis and idiopathic inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* 1994;107:755-763.
- 92. Magro F, Langner C, Driessen A, Ensari A, Geboes K, Mantzaris GJ *et al.* European consensus on the histopathology of inflammatory bowel disease. *J Crohns Colitis* 2013;7:827-851.
- 93. Talbot I, Price A, Salto-Tellez M. *Biopsy pathology in colorectal disease (2nd edition)*. London: Hodder Arnold, 2006.
- 94. Makapugay LM, Dean PJ. Diverticular disease-associated chronic colitis. *Am J Surg Pathol* 1996;20:94-102.
- 95. Yantiss RK, Odze RD. Diagnostic difficulties in inflammatory bowel disease pathology. *Histopathology* 2006;48:116-132.
- 96. Lee FD. Importance of apoptosis in the histopathology of drug related lesions in the large intestine. *J Clin Pathol* 1993;46:118-122.
- 97. Patil DT, Greenson JK, Odze RD. Inflammatory disorders of the large intestine. In: Odze RD, Goldblum JR, eds. *Surgical pathology of the GI tract, liver, biliary tract and pancreas (3rd edition)*. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier, 2015;436-511.
- 98. Qualman SJ, Jaffe R, Bove KE, Monforte-Munoz H. Diagnosis of Hirschsprung disease using the rectal biopsy: multi-institutional survey. *Pediatr Dev Pathol* 1999;2:588-596.
- 99. Bala R, Pinsky BA, Beck AH, Kong CS, Welton ML, Longacre TA. p16 is superior to ProEx C in identifying high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions (HSIL) of the anal canal. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2013;37:659-668.

- 100. Pirog EC, Quint KD, Yantiss RK. P16/CDKN2A and Ki-67 enhance the detection of anal intraepithelial neoplasia and condyloma and correlate with human papillomavirus detection by polymerase chain reaction. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2010;34:1449-1455.
- 101. Warren BF, Shepherd NA. Surgical pathology of the intestine: the pelvic ileal reservoir and diversion proctocolitis. In: Lowe DG, Underwood JCE, eds. *Recent advances in Histopathology*. London: Churchill Livingstone, 1999;18;63-88.
- 102. Shepherd NA, Healey CJ, Warren BF, Richman PI, Thomson WH, Wilkinson SP. Distribution of mucosal pathology and an assessment of colonic phenotypic change in the pelvic ileal reservoir. *Gut* 1993;34:101-105.
- 103. Sandborn WJ, Tremaine WJ, Batts KP, Pemberton JH, Phillips SF. Pouchitis after ileal pouch-anal anastomosis: a Pouchitis Disease Activity Index. *Mayo Clin Proc* 1994;69:409-415.
- 104. Shepherd NA, Jass JR, Duval I, Moskowitz RL, Nicholls RJ, Morson BC. Restorative proctocolectomy with ileal reservoir: pathological and histochemical study of mucosal biopsy specimens. *J Clin Pathol* 1987;40:601-607.
- 105. Bell AJ, Price AB, Forbes A, Ciclitira PJ, Groves C, Nicholls RJ. Pre-pouch ileitis: a disease of the ileum in ulcerative colitis after restorative proctocolectomy. *Colorectal Dis* 2006;8:402-410.
- 106. Geboes K. Inflammatory disorders of the small intestine. In: Shepherd NA, Warren BF, Williams GT, Greenson JK, Lauwers GY, Novelli MR, eds. *Morson & Dawson's Gastrointestinal Pathology (5th edition)*. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell, 2013;315-372.
- 107. Lack EE. Pathology of the pancreas, gallbladder, extrahepatic biliary tract and ampullary region. New York: Oxford University Press, 2003.
- 108. Roche HJ, Carr NJ, Laing H, Bateman AC. Hyperplastic polyps of the duodenum: an unusual histological finding. *J Clin Pathol* 2006;59:1305-1306.
- 109. Moon SH, Kim MH, Park do H, Song TJ, Eum J, Lee SS *et al.* IgG4 immunostaining of duodenal papillary biopsy specimens may be useful for supporting a diagnosis of autoimmune pancreatitis. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2010;71:960-966.
- 110. Deshpande V, Zen Y, Chan JK, Yi EE, Sato Y, Yoshino T *et al.* Consensus statement on the pathology of IgG4-related disease. *Mod Pathol* 2012;25:1181-1192.
- 111. Shimosegawa T, Chari ST, Frulloni L, Kamisawa T, Kawa S, Mino-Kenudson M *et al.* International consensus diagnostic criteria for autoimmune pancreatitis: guidelines of the International Association of Pancreatology. *Pancreas* 2011;40:352-358.
- 112. Campbell F, Verbeke CS. *Pathology of the pancreas a practical approach*. London: Springer-Verlag, 2013.
- 113. Hyland C, Kheir SM, Kashlan MB. Frozen section diagnosis of pancreatic carcinoma: a prospective study of 64 biopsies. *Am J Surg Pathol* 1981;5:179-191.
- 114. Kloppel G, Adsay NV. Chronic pancreatitis and the differential diagnosis versus pancreatic cancer. *Arch Pathol Lab Med* 2009;133:382-387.
- 115. Zamboni G, Capelli P, Scarpa A, Bogina G, Pesci A, Brunello E *et al.* Nonneoplastic mimickers of pancreatic neoplasms. *Arch Pathol Lab Med* 2009;133:439-453.

- 116. Bateman AC, Deheragoda MG. IgG4-related systemic sclerosing disease an emerging and under-diagnosed condition. *Histopathology* 2009;55:373-383.
- 117. Doyle LA, Odze RD. Inflammatory disorders of the appendix. In: Odze RD, Goldblum JR, eds. *Surgical pathology of the GI tract, liver, biliary tract and pancreas (3rd edition)*. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier, 2015;512-529.
- 118. Riddell R, Jain D. Appendix. In: DLewin K, Riddell RH, Weinstein WM, eds. *Lewin, Weinstein and Riddell's Gastrointestinal Pathology and its Clinical Implications (2nd edition)*. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, 2014.
- 119. Misdraji J. Tumours of the appendix. In: Shepherd NA, Warren BF, Williams GT, Greenson JK, Lauwers GY, Novelli MR, eds. *Morson and Dawson's gastrointestinal pathology (5th edition)*. Chichester, West Sussex: Blackwell, 2013;490-501.
- 120. Guo G, Greenson JK. Histopathology of interval (delayed) appendectomy specimens: strong association with granulomatous and xanthogranulomatous appendicitis. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2003;27:1147-1151.
- 121. Scott IS, Sheaff M, Coumbe A, Feakins RM, Rampton DS. Appendiceal inflammation in ulcerative colitis. *Histopathology* 1998;33:168-173.
- 122. Yantiss RK, Panczykowski A, Misdraji J, Hahn HP, Odze RD, Rennert H *et al.* A comprehensive study of nondysplastic and dysplastic serrated polyps of the vermiform appendix. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2007;31:1742-1753.
- 123. Misdraji J. Epithelial neoplasms of the appendix. In: Odze RD, Goldblum JR, eds. *Surgical pathology of the GI tract, liver, biliary tract and pancreas (3rd edition)*. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier, 2015;779-802.
- 124. Younes M, Katikaneni PR, Lechago J. Association between mucosal hyperplasia of the appendix and adenocarcinoma of the colon. *Histopathology* 1995;26:33-37.
- 125. Misdraji J, Yantiss RK, Graeme-Cook FM, Balis UJ, Young RH. Appendiceal mucinous neoplasms: a clinicopathologic analysis of 107 cases. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2003;27:1089-1103.
- 126. Lewin KJ, Riddell RH, Weinstein WM. *Gastrointestinal pathology and its clinical implications*. New York: Igaku-Shoin, 1992.
- 127. Agaimy A, Schaefer IM, Kotzina L, Knolle J, Baumann I, Strobel P *et al.* Juvenile-like (inflammatory/hyperplastic) mucosal polyps of the gastrointestinal tract in neurofibromatosis type 1. *Histopathology* 2014;64:777-786.
- 128. Burkart AL, Sheridan T, Lewin M, Fenton H, Ali NJ, Montgomery E. Do sporadic Peutz-Jeghers polyps exist? Experience of a large teaching hospital. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2007;31:1209-1214.
- 129. Hornick JL, Odze RD. Polyps of the large intestine. In: Odze RD, Goldblum JR, eds. *Surgical pathology of the GI tract, liver, biliary tract and pancreas (3rd edition).* Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier, 2015;607-655.
- 130. Plesec TP, Owens SR. Inflammatory and neoplastic disorders of the anal canal. In: Odze RD, Goldblum JR, eds. *Surgical pathology of the GI tract, liver, biliary tract and pancreas (3rd edition)*. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier, 2015;887-920.

- 131. Williams AS, Hache KD. Variable fidelity of tissue-marking dyes in surgical pathology. *Histopathology* 2014;64:896-900.
- 132. Wolff BG, Beart RW, Jr., Frydenberg HB, Weiland LH, Agrez MV, Ilstrup DM. The importance of disease-free margins in resections for Crohn's disease. *Dis Colon Rectum* 1983;26:239-243.
- 133. Jessurun J, Pambuccian S. Infectious and inflammatory disorders of the gallbladder and extrahepatic bliary tract. In: Odze RD, Goldblum JR, eds. *Surgical pathology of the GI tract, liver, biliary tract and pancreas (3rd edition)*. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier, 2015;995-1020.
- 134. Jain D, Warren BF, Riddell RH. Inflammatory disorders of the large intestine. In: Shepherd NA, Warren BF, Williams GT, Greenson JK, Lauwers GY, Novelli MR, eds. *Morson and Dawson's Gastrointestinal Pathology (5th edition)*. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell, 2013;552-635.
- 135. Geraghty JM, Talbot IC. Diversion colitis: histological features in the colon and rectum after defunctioning colostomy. *Gut* 1991;32:1020-1023.
- 136. Edwards CM, George B, Warren B. Diversion colitis: new light through old windows. *Histopathology* 1999;34:1-5.
- 137. Muldoon C. Vascular disorders of the large intestine. In: Shepherd NA, Warren BF, Williams GT, Greenson JK, Lauwers GY, Novelli MR, eds. *Morson and Dawson's Gastrointestinal Pathology (5th edition)*. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell, 2013;636-646.
- 138. Irving PM, Alstead EM, Greaves RR, Feakins RM, Pollok RC, Rampton DS. Acute mesenteric infarction: an important cause of abdominal pain in ulcerative colitis. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2005;17:1429-1432.
- 139. Mudhar HS, Balsitis M. Colonic angiodysplasia and true diverticula: is there an association? *Histopathology* 2005;46:81-88.
- 140. D'Haens G, Geboes K, Peeters M, Baert F, Ectors N, Rutgeerts P. Patchy cecal inflammation associated with distal ulcerative colitis: a prospective endoscopic study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1997;92:1275-1279.
- 141. Mutinga ML, Odze RD, Wang HH, Hornick JL, Farraye FA. The clinical significance of rightsided colonic inflammation in patients with left-sided chronic ulcerative colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2004;10:215-219.
- 142. Guindi M, Riddell RH. Indeterminate colitis. J Clin Pathol 2004;57:1233-1244.
- 143. Swan NC, Geoghegan JG, O'Donoghue DP, Hyland JM, Sheahan K. Fulminant colitis in inflammatory bowel disease: detailed pathologic and clinical analysis. *Dis Colon Rectum* 1998;41:1511-1515.
- 144. Geboes K, Colombel JF, Greenstein A, Jewell DP, Sandborn WJ, Vatn MH *et al.* Indeterminate colitis: a review of the concept-what's in a name? *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2008;14:850-857.
- 145. Price AB. Overlap in the spectrum of non-specific inflammatory bowel disease 'colitis indeterminate'. *J Clin Pathol* 1978;31:567-577.
- 146. Martland GT, Shepherd NA. Indeterminate colitis: definition, diagnosis, implications and a plea for nosological sanity. *Histopathology* 2007;50:83-96.

- 147. Perlemuter G, Guillevin L, Legman P, Weiss L, Couturier D, Chaussade S. Cryptogenetic multifocal ulcerous stenosing enteritis: an atypical type of vasculitis or a disease mimicking vasculitis. *Gut* 2001;48:333-338.
- 148. Williams NS, Bulstrode CJK, O'Connell PR. *Bailey and Love's Short Practice of Surgery* (26th edition). Boca Raton: CRC Press, 2013.
- 149. Domizio P, Martin JE. Neuromuscular and mechanical disorders of the large intestine. In: Shepherd NA, Warren BF, Williams GT, Greenson JK, Lauwers GY, Novelli MR, eds. *Morson and Dawson's Gastrointestinal Pathology (5th edition)*. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell, 2013;531-551.
- 150. Crawford JM. Gallbladder, extrahepatic biliary tract, and pancreas tissue processing techniques and normal histology. In: Odze RD, Goldblum JR, eds. *Surgical pathology of the GI tract, liver, biliary tract and pancreas (3rd edition)*. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier, 2015;921-936.
- 151. Zen Y, Ishikawa A, Ogiso S, Heaton N, Portmann B. Follicular cholangitis and pancreatitis clinicopathological features and differential diagnosis of an under-recognized entity. *Histopathology* 2012;60:261-269.
- 152. Ohara H, Okazaki K, Tsubouchi H, Inui K, Kawa S, Kamisawa T *et al.* Clinical diagnostic criteria of IgG4-related sclerosing cholangitis 2012. *J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci* 2012;19:536-542.
- 153. Adsay NV, Klimstra DS. Benign and malignant tumours of the gallbladder and extrahepatic biliary tract. In: Odze RD, Goldblum JR, eds. *Surgical pathology of the GI tract, liver, biliary tract and pancreas (3rd edition)*. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier, 2015;1021-1054.
- 154. Deshpande V. Inflammatory and other non-neoplastic disorders of the pancreas. In: Odze RD, Goldblum JR, eds. *Surgical pathology of the GI tract, liver, biliary tract and pancreas (3rd edition)*. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier, 2015;1055-1080.

Appendix A Summary table – Explanation of levels of evidence

(Modified from Palmer K et al. BMJ 2008;337:1832.)

| Level of evidence | Nature of evidence | |
|------------------------------|---|--|
| Level A | At least one high-quality meta-analysis, systematic review of randomised controlled trials or a randomised controlled trial with a very low risk of bias and directly attributable to the target cancer type, or | |
| | A body of evidence demonstrating consistency of results and comprising mainly well-conducted meta-analyses, systematic reviews of randomised controlled trials or randomised controlled trials with a low risk of bias, directly applicable to the target cancer type. | |
| Level B | A body of evidence demonstrating consistency of results and comprising mainly high-quality systematic reviews of case-control or cohort studies and high-quality case-control or cohort studies with a very low risk of confounding or bias and a high probability that the relation is causal and which are directly applicable to the target cancer type or, Extrapolation evidence from studies described in A.A body of evidence demonstrating consistency of results and including well- conducted case-control or cohort studies and high-quality case-control or cohort studies with a low risk of confounding or bias and a moderate probability that the relation is causal and which are directly applicable to the target cancer type or, | |
| Level C | | |
| Level D | | |
| Good practice point (GPP) | Recommended best practice based on the clinical experience of the authors of the writing group | |

Appendix B AGREE compliance monitoring sheet

The tissue pathways of The Royal College of Pathologists comply with the AGREE II standards for good quality clinical guidelines (www.agreetrust.org). The sections of this tissue pathway that indicate compliance with each of the AGREE II standards are indicated in the table.

| AG | REE standard | Section of guideline |
|-------------------------|---|----------------------|
| Sco | ope and purpose | |
| 1 | The overall objective(s) of the guideline is (are) specifically described | Forward, 1 |
| 2 | The health question(s) covered by the guideline is (are)specifically described | 1 |
| 3 | The population (patients, public, etc.) to whom the guideline is meant to apply is specifically described | Foreword,1 |
| Sta | keholder involvement | |
| 4 | The guideline development group includes individuals from all the relevant professional groups | Foreword |
| 5 | The views and preferences of the target population (patients, public, etc.) have been sought | N/A |
| 6 | The target users of the guideline are clearly defined | Foreword,1 |
| Rig | jour of development | |
| 7 | Systematic methods were used to search for evidence | Foreword |
| 8 | The criteria for selecting the evidence are clearly described | Foreword |
| 9 | The strengths and limitations of the body of evidence are clearly described | Foreword |
| 10 | The methods for formulating the recommendations are clearly described | Foreword |
| 11 | The health benefits, side effects and risks have been considered in formulating the recommendations | 1 |
| 12 | There is an explicit link between the recommendations and the supporting evidence | Throughout |
| 13 | The guideline has been externally reviewed by experts prior to its publication | Foreword |
| 14 | A procedure for updating the guideline is provided | Foreword |
| Clarity of presentation | | |
| 15 | The recommendations are specific and unambiguous | 1–6 |
| 16 | The different options for management of the condition or health issue are clearly presented | 1–5 |
| 17 | Key recommendations are easily identifiable | 1–5 |
| Applicability | | |
| 18 | The guideline describes facilitators and barriers to its application | Foreword |
| 19 | The guideline provides advice and/or tools on how the recommendations can be put into practice | 1–6 |
| 20 | The potential resource implications of applying the recommendations have been considered | Foreword |
| 21 | The guideline presents monitoring and/or auditing criteria | 6 |
| Edi | itorial independence | |
| 22 | The views of the funding body have not influenced the content of the guideline | Foreword |
| 23 | Competing interest of guideline development group members have been recorded and addressed | Foreword |